
June 2024 Audit and Risk Committee
meeting

Schedule Thursday, June 13, 2024 10:30 AM — 11:30 AM CDT
Venue 4700 Mueller Blvd., Suite 100, Austin, TX
Organizer Sarah McCleary

Agenda

1. Call roll of Committee members 1
Presented by Michael Benson

  Item #1 Summary.docx 2

2. Review order of business and meeting objectives 3
Presented by Michael Benson

  Item #2 Summary.docx 4

3. Receive public comments 5
Presented by Michael Benson

  Item #3 Summary.docx 6

4. Consider approval of the March 6, 2024 Audit and Risk Committee minutes 7
Presented by Michael Benson

  Item #4 Summary.docx 8
  2024 03 06 Audit and Risk Committee Minutes.docx 9

5. Discuss and consider acceptance of financial statement audit report as of
December 31, 2023

12

Presented by Bhakti Patel, CLA

  Agenda Item #5 Summary.docx 13
  05A ACFR Opinion.pdf 14
  05B Governance Letter.pdf 17
  05C Audit Committee Communications Presentation 2023.pptx 20
  05D ACFR 2023 6.3.24_Financial Section.pdf 34



6. Discuss and consider Travel Reimbursement Policy 70
Presented by Michael Benson

  Agenda Item #6 Summary.docx 71
  Proposed Travel Reimbursement Policy.pdf 72

7. Receive report on COAERS Enterprise Risk Management program including
the following:
7A: Risk categories of personnel, physical, and legislative
7B: Cybersecurity risk category and information security program

80

7A: Risk categories of personnel, physical, and legislative 81
Presented by Christopher Hanson

  Item #7A Summary.docx 82
  07A1 Staff Report on Personnel, Physical, and Legislative Risks.docx 83
  07A2 Staff Presentation Personnel, Physical, and Legislative Risks.pptx 86

7B: Cybersecurity risk category and information security program
Convene into Executive Session pursuant to Section 551.071, Texas
Government Code, Section 1.05, Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional
Conduct, and Section 551.089, Texas Government Code, to consult with legal
counsel and deliberate security assessments or deployments relating to
information resources technology, network security information described in
Section 2059.055, Texas Government Code, and deployment and
implementation of security personnel, critical infrastructure, and security devices

100

Presented by Amy Kelley

  Item #7B Summary.docx 101
  07B Cybersecurity Risk Report Q2 2024.pptx 102

Reconvene into open session to take action as determined appropriate
regarding security assessments or deployments relating to information
resources technology, network security information described in Section
2059.055, Texas Government Code, and deployment and implementation of
security personnel, critical infrastructure, and security devices

114



8. Receive report on the first quarter 2024 unaudited financial statements 115
Presented by Yun Quintanilla

  Item #8 Summary.docx 116
  Unaudited Q1 2024 Financial Statements.pdf 117

9. Review key meeting takeaways and call for future agenda items 119
Presented by Michael Benson

  Item #9 Summary.docx 120
  2024 Audit and Risk Committee Work Plan.docx 121



1. Call roll of Committee members
Presented by Michael Benson



 

 

COMMITTEE MEETING  
Agenda Item Information Sheet 

 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM 1: 
Call roll of Committee members 

 
 
AGENDA ITEM OBJECTIVE 
The objective of the agenda item is to determine for the record which Trustees are 
present at the start of the meeting.  
 
Each Trustee should respond to the roll call, and it will be noted which Trustees are 
present in person and which Trustees have joined via video conference. 
 
 

Page 2 of 121



2. Review order of business and meeting
objectives
Presented by Michael Benson



 

 

COMMITTEE MEETING  
Agenda Item Information Sheet 

 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM 2: 
Review order of business and establish meeting objectives 

 
 
AGENDA ITEM OBJECTIVE 
This agenda item provides Trustees the opportunity to review the order of business and 
to express a desire to take an agenda item out of order, and to discuss the key 
objectives of the meeting.  
 

1. The Committee will consider acceptance of the financial statement audit 
report as of December 31, 2023. 

2. The Committee will review and consider proposed revisions to the Travel 
Reimbursement Policy.  

3. The Committee will review the Enterprise Risk Management Report and 
dashboard and discuss the following four risk categories: personnel, physical, 
legislative, and cybersecurity. 

4. The Committee will receive the Staff report on first quarter 2023 unaudited 
financial statements.  

 
 
 
RELEVANCE TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
This agenda item meets COAERS Strategic Plan Goal 4: Identify and implement 
leading practices in board governance, pension administration, and investment 
management. It is an industry best practice to establish meeting objectives and review 
them at the outset of each meeting. 
 
 

 

Page 4 of 121



3. Receive public comments
Presented by Michael Benson



 

 

COMMITTEE MEETING  
Agenda Item Information Sheet 

 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM 3: 
Receive public comments 

 
 
AGENDA ITEM OBJECTIVE 
This standing agenda item allows System members and members of the public the 
opportunity to provide comments to the Board.   
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY 
The Chair will recognize any person who wishes to comment for up to three minutes per 
person.  
 
 
RELEVANCE TO STRATEGIC PLAN/CORE COMPETENCIES 
This agenda item meets the core competency established in the COAERS Strategic 
Plan “Transparency: Complying with open meeting and public information laws to 
ensure the decision-making process is clear to members and the public.”  
 

Page 6 of 121



4. Consider approval of the March 6, 2024
Audit and Risk Committee minutes
Presented by Michael Benson



 

 

COMMITTEE MEETING  
Agenda Item Information Sheet 

 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM 4: 
Consider approval of the March 6, 2024 Audit and Risk Committee minutes 

 
 
AGENDA ITEM OBJECTIVE 
This standing agenda item seeks approval of the minutes from the prior Audit and Risk 
Committee meeting. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION FOR COMMITTEE ACTION 
Staff recommends approval of the minutes of the March 6, 2024 Audit and Risk 
Committee meeting. 
 
 
RELEVANCE TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
This agenda item meets the core competency established in the COAERS Strategic 
Plan “Transparency: Complying with open meeting and public information laws to 
ensure the decision-making process is clear to members and the public.” 
 
 
ATTACHMENT 

1. Draft minutes of March 6, 2024 Audit and Risk Committee meeting 

 

Page 8 of 121



 

Page 1 

 
 

MINUTES 

AUDIT AND RISK COMMITTEE 

Public Meeting held in-person and videoconference 

 Pursuant to Texas Govt. Code 551.127 
4700 Mueller Blvd., Austin,  TX 78723 

Wednesday, March 6, 2024 10:45 a.m. CT 

 
 

       Committee Members         Other Board Trustees   Others Present 
 Present/(Absent)         Present/(Absent) 

Michael Benson, Committee 
Chair 

Michael Granof 
Dick Lavine† 
Chris Noak 

Anthony Ross 
 

Guests: 
Paige Saenz, General 

Counsel 
Bhakti Patel, CLA 

 

Kelly Crook 
(Yuejiao Liu) 
(Leslie Pool) 
Brad Sinclair 

(Diana Thomas) 
(Ed Van Eenoo) 

 

Staff: 
Christopher Hanson 

Sarah McCleary 
Russell Nash  
Teresa Cantu 
Jenni Bonds 

Yun Quintanilla 
Mehrin Rahman 
David Kushner* 

Amy Kelley* 
 

*present telephonically 
†  present videoconference 

  

 
 

1 Call roll of Committee members  
 

Committee Chair Michael Benson called the meeting to order at 11:14 a.m. The 
following Committee members were present in person: Benson, Granof, and Ross. 
The following Committee member was present via teleconference: Lavine. 
  

 
  

2 Review order of business and meeting objectives  
 

Committee Chair Benson reviewed the order of business and meeting objectives with 
the Committee. No changes were made to the order of business. 
 
Chris Noak arrived at 11:16 a.m. 
  

 
  

Page 9 of 121



 
March 2024 Audit and Risk Committee meeting 
     

Page 2 

3 Receive public comments  
 

Committee Chair Benson asked if there were any members of the public who wished 
to speak, either now or during an agenda item. There were no comments. 
 
Mr. Sinclair left the meeting and 11:18 a.m. 
  

 
  

4 Consider approval of the November 9, 2023 Audit and Risk Committee  minutes  
 

Committee Chair Benson asked the Committee to review the Audit and Risk 
Committee minutes. Mr. Anthony Ross moved approval of the November 9, 2023 
minutes as presented. Mr. Michael Granof seconded, and the motion passed 
unanimously.  
  

 
  

5 Review 2024 Audit and Risk Committee Work Plan  
 

Mr. Christopher Hanson presented the Audit and Risk Committee Work Plan for 2024. 
Trustees discussed it and gave general approval. 
  

 
  

6 Receive presentation of required auditor communications in conjunction with 
the financial statement audit  
 

Ms. Bhakti Patel of CliftonLarsonAllen (CLA) outlined the required communications 
and summary of services to be performed for the December 31, 2023 financial 
statement audit. Ms. Patel reported that the CLA team will conduct walkthroughs and 
individual meetings with Trustees and Staff in March and April, and that substantive 
testing of all audit areas are scheduled to conclude in May.   
 
Ms. Pool left the meeting at 11:19 a.m. 
Mr. Sinclair returned to the meeting at 11:21 a.m. 
  

 
  

7 Discuss and consider Fraud, Waste, and Abuse Reporting policy  
 

Mr. Russell Nash presented one proposed edit to the Fraud, Waste, and Abuse 
Reporting policy and indicated that Staff planned to test the online reporting system. 
Staff noted Trustees’ request to receive a report yearly, even if no reports are 
received. Mr. Noak moved to refer to the Board for approval the revisions to the Fraud, 
Waste, and Abuse Reporting Policy. Mr. Ross seconded, and the motion passed 
unanimously. 

 
  

Page 10 of 121



 
March 2024 Audit and Risk Committee meeting 
     

Page 3 

8 Receive report on the unaudited 2023 year-end financial statements  
 

Ms. Yun Quintanilla presented the December 30, 2023 unaudited financial statements. 
 
  

9 Receive report on COAERS Enterprise Risk Management program including 
funding, market, counterparty, and operational  
 

Mr. Hanson presented a report related to the Enterprise Risk Management program 
and highlighted the four categories of the Enterprise Risk Management program within 
the report which were under review at this Committee meeting including funding, 
market, counterparty, and operational risk.  

 
  

10    Review key meeting takeaways and call for future agenda items  
 

Committee Chair Benson summarized the actions taken and information discussed at 
the meeting and provided an opportunity to add future agenda items. 

 
  

As there were no other items to address, the meeting adjourned at 11:44 a.m. 

Page 11 of 121



5. Discuss and consider acceptance of
financial statement audit report as of
December 31, 2023
Presented by Bhakti Patel, CLA



 

 

COMMITTEE MEETING  
Agenda Item Information Sheet 

 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM 5: 
Discuss and consider acceptance of financial statement audit report  

as of December 31, 2023 
 

 
 
AGENDA ITEM OBJECTIVE 
This agenda item is intended for the Committee to discuss and consider the report from 
COAERS’ financial statement auditor regarding the December 31, 2023 financial 
statement audit.   
 
 
RECOMMENDATION FOR COMMITTEE ACTION 
Staff recommends the Committee refer to the Board the acceptance of the December 
31, 2023 financial statements and auditor’s report from CliftonLarsonAllen (CLA).   
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY 
The statutes that govern COAERS require an annual independent audit of the System’s 
accounts performed by a certified public accounting firm.  CLA has been engaged to 
perform the financial audit for fiscal year ended December 31, 2023. Ms. Bhakti Patel 
from CLA will provide required communications.   
 
 
RELEVANCE TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
This agenda item meets COAERS Strategic Plan Goal 2: Responsibly manage the 

risks of the System. 

 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Independent Auditor’s Report 
2. Governance Letter 
3. Committee Presentation Slide Deck 
4. Financial Section of COAERS December 31, 2023 Annual Comprehensive 

Financial Report 
 
SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIAL AVAILABLE VIA CONVENE APP 

1. December 31, 2023 COAERS Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 

Page 13 of 121



Page 14 of 121



Page 15 of 121



Page 16 of 121



Page 17 of 121



Page 18 of 121



Page 19 of 121



©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP. CLA (CliftonLarsonAllen LLP) is an independent network member of CLA Global. See CLAglobal.com/disclaimer. 
Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth Advisors, LLC, an SEC-registered investment advisor.

Audit Exit Presentation

Year ended December 31, 2023

City of Austin Employees’ Retirement 
System

1

Page 20 of 121

disclaimer


©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 2

Agenda

• Audit scope and process

• Audit opinions and communications

• Financial statement highlights 

• Engagement finalization

• Industry insights and emerging issues 

• Thought leadership and upcoming 
webinars 

Page 21 of 121



©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 3

Audit Scope

Report on the 
CAOERS’ financial 

statements

Internal control/
management letter

Required 
governance 

communications 
letter

Report on Schedule 
of Pension 
Amounts

Page 22 of 121



©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 4

Financial statement

No material weaknesses noted.
No significant deficiencies noted.

Schedule of Pension 
Amounts

No material weaknesses noted.
No significant deficiencies noted.

©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Financial statement

Financial statement audit 
opinion is in unmodified.

Schedule of Pension 
Amounts

Schedule of Pension Amounts 
audit opinion is unmodified.

AUDIT OPINIONS AUDIT RESULTS

Page 23 of 121



©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Audit Process

5

Internal controls Revenue recognition

Significant estimates Investments

RISK-BASED APPROACH

Page 24 of 121



©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Governance Communications

Estimates

• An area of focus under a risk-based audit 
approach

• Significant estimates include fair value of 
investments and total pension liability

• Estimates determined by management based 
on their knowledge and experience

• No management bias indicated

• Estimates were deemed reasonable

• Estimate uncertainty is disclosed in the 
financial statements

Overall
• Management is responsible for the 

accounting policies of the 
organization

• Accounting policies are outlined in 
Note 2 to the financial statements

• No significant changes to the 
accounting policies during the year

• Accounting policies deemed 
appropriate

• Significant Financial Statement 
Disclosures - Fair value measurements 
– Note 4

• No significant unusual transactions

Page 25 of 121



©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Governance Communications

Supplementary Information

• Investment, General & Administrative, and 
Professional Services and Consultant 
Expenses

• Engaged to report in relation to the financial 
statements as a whole

• Method of preparing has not changed from 
the prior year

• Supplementary information reconciles to 
financial statements

• Supplementary information is appropriate 
and complete in relation to our audit

Difficulties
• No difficulties encountered in 

performing the audit
• No issues discussed prior to retention 

as independent auditors
• No disagreements with management 

regarding accounting, reporting, or 
other matters

• No management consultations with 
other independent auditors 

• No difficult or contentious matters 
requiring consultations outside of the 
engagement team

• No other findings or issues were 
discussed with, or communicated to, 
management

Page 26 of 121



©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Approval
from Audit & 

Risk Committee

Signed
representation 

letter

8

STEPS TO FINALIZE AUDIT ENGAGEMENT Page 27 of 121



©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 9

What changed

Auditing standards (SAS 143-145) were modernized for evolving 
business environment

Effective for 2023 year-end audits

New requirements

Enhanced risk assessment and understanding of estimates

Deeper IT understanding; more inquiries; data requests and testing

Audit impact

More time evaluating controls; more use of IT specialists

Potential for additional recommendations

Greater impact on complex IT systems

©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

SIGNIFICANT AUDIT CHANGES

Emerging Issues
Page 28 of 121



©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 10©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

GASBS No. 100, Accounting Changes and Error Corrections

GASBS No. 101, Compensated Absences

GASBS No. 102, Certain Risk Disclosures

Upcoming GASB Pronouncements

Emerging Issues
Page 29 of 121



©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 11

Insights
Stay informed and 

prepare for what’s next.

Page 30 of 121



12

©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Benefit from guidance on 
all aspects of your business.

Find support 
at every turn

Page 31 of 121



13

©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Questions and Feedback
We appreciate the opportunity to serve you 
and welcome any feedback relative to our 

performance and to the engagement.

13

©2023 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 

Page 32 of 121



CLAconnect.com

CPAs  |  CONSULTANTS  |  WEALTH ADVISORS
©2024 CliftonLarsonAllen LLP. CLA (CliftonLarsonAllen LLP) is an independent network member of CLA Global. See CLAglobal.com/disclaimer. 
Investment advisory services are offered through CliftonLarsonAllen Wealth Advisors, LLC, an SEC-registered investment advisor.

14

Roy Cobb, CPA
Director
Roy.Cobb@claconnect.com | 
512.276.6047

Bhakti Patel, CPA
Managing Principal, Austin, TX
Bhakti.Patel@claconnect.com | 
512.276.6053

Page 33 of 121

https://twitter.com/CLAconnect
https://www.facebook.com/CliftonLarsonAllen
https://www.linkedin.com/company/cliftonlarsonallen
https://www.youtube.com/user/CliftonLarsonAllen
https://www.instagram.com/lifeatcla
disclaimer


FINANCIAL
SECTION

Page 34 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
25

CLA (CliftonLarsonAllen LLP) is an independent network member of CLA Global. See CLAglobal.com/disclaimer. 

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP 
CLAconnect.com 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

Audit and Risk Committee of the Board of Trustees
City of Austin Employees' Retirement System
Austin, Texas

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements
Opinion
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the City of Austin Employees' Retirement 
System as of and for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the related notes to the 
financial statements, which collectively comprise the City of Austin Employees' Retirement System’s 
basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the 
fiduciary net position of the City of Austin Employees' Retirement System as of December 31, 2023 and
2022, and the changes in fiduciary net position for the years then ended in accordance with accounting 
principles generally accepted in the United States of America.

Basis for Opinion
We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States 
of America (GAAS). Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditors’ 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are required to be 
independent of the City of Austin Employees' Retirement System and to meet our other ethical 
responsibilities, in accordance with the relevant ethical requirements relating to our audits. We believe 
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit 
opinion.

Responsibilities of Management for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in 
accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America, and for the 
design, implementation, and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation and fair 
presentation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or 
error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is required to evaluate whether there are conditions 
or events, considered in the aggregate, that raise substantial doubt about the City of Austin Employees' 
Retirement System's ability to continue as a going concern for twelve months beyond the financial 
statement date, including any currently known information that may raise substantial doubt shortly 
thereafter.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT Page 35 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
26

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONTINUED)

Audit and Risk Committee of the Board of Trustees 
City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 

 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that 
includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not absolute assurance 
and therefore is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with GAAS will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional 
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. Misstatements are considered 
material if there is a substantial likelihood that, individually or in the aggregate, they would influence the 
judgment made by a reasonable user based on the financial statements. 
 
In performing an audit in accordance with GAAS, we: 
 

• Exercise professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. 
 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, and design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks. Such 
procedures include examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures 
in the financial statements. 

 
• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 

procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of City of Austin Employees' Retirement System’s internal control. 
Accordingly, no such opinion is expressed. 

 
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of significant 

accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluate the overall presentation of the 
financial statements. 

 
• Conclude whether, in our judgment, there are conditions or events, considered in the aggregate, 

that raise substantial doubt about City of Austin Employees' Retirement System’s ability to 
continue as a going concern for a reasonable period of time. 

 
We are required to communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the audit, significant audit findings, and certain internal control related 
matters that we identified during the audit. 
 

Page 36 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
27

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT (CONCLUDED)

Audit and Risk Committee of the Board of Trustees
City of Austin Employees' Retirement System

Required Supplementary Information
Accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America require that the
Management’s Discussion and Analysis, the Schedule of Changes in the Net Pension Liability and 
Related Ratios, the Schedule of Contributions, and the Schedule of Investment Returns be presented 
to supplement the basic financial statements. Such information is the responsibility of management 
and, although not a part of the basic financial statements, is required by the Governmental Accounting 
Standards Board who considers it to be an essential part of financial reporting for placing the basic 
financial statements in an appropriate operational, economic, or historical context. We have applied 
certain limited procedures to the required supplementary information in accordance with GAAS, which 
consisted of inquiries of management about the methods of preparing the information and comparing 
the information for consistency with management’s responses to our inquiries, the basic financial 
statements, and other knowledge we obtained during our audits of the basic financial statements. We do 
not express an opinion or provide any assurance on the information because the limited procedures do 
not provide us with sufficient evidence to express an opinion or provide any assurance.

Supplementary Information
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that 
collectively comprise the City of Austin Employees' Retirement System’s basic financial statements. 
The Other Supplementary Information – Investment, Professional Services and Consultant, and General and 
Administrative Expenses (as referenced in the table of contents) is presented for purposes of additional 
analysis and is not a required part of the basic financial statements. Such information is the 
responsibility of management and was derived from and relates directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements. The information has been subjected 
to the auditing procedures applied in the audit of the basic financial statements and certain additional 
procedures, including comparing and reconciling such information directly to the underlying accounting 
and other records used to prepare the basic financial statements or to the basic financial statements 
themselves, and other additional procedures in accordance with GAAS. In our opinion, the Other
Supplementary Information is fairly stated, in all material respects, in relation to the basic financial 
statements as a whole.

Other Information
Management is responsible for the other information included in the annual report. The other 
information (as referenced in the table of contents) comprises the Introductory Section, the Investment 
Section, the Actuarial Section, and the Statistical Section but does not include the basic financial 
statements and our auditors’ report thereon. Our opinion on the basic financial statements does not 
cover the other information, and we do not express an opinion or any form of assurance thereon. In
connection with our audits of the basic financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and consider whether a material inconsistency exists between the other information and the 
basic financial statements, or the other information otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work performed, we conclude that an uncorrected material misstatement of the other 
information exists, we are required to describe it in our report.

CliftonLarsonAllen LLP

Austin, Texas
May 31, 2024 

Page 37 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
28

This section of the City of Austin Employees’ Retirement System’s (COAERS, or the System) financial 
report presents our discussion and analysis of the System’s financial performance during fiscal years 
2023 and 2022. We encourage readers to consider the information presented here in conjunction with our 
financial statements that follow.

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The net position held in trust by the System increased by $318.9 million, or 10.8%, in 2023, and decreased 
by $605.4 million, or 17.0%, in 2022. The changes in net position are due primarily to changes in investment 
returns.

Contributions increased by $28.5 million, or 13.2%, in 2023, and by $7.8 million, or 3.7%, in 2022. The 
2023 increase was due to a $17.1 million increase in employer contributions, an increase of $7.1 million 
in employee contributions, and a $4.3 million increase in employee creditable service purchases. The 
2022 increase was due to a $5.4 million increase in employer contributions, an increase of $2.4 million in 
employee contributions.

The amount of benefits paid to retired members and beneficiaries, and refunded to terminating employees, 
increased by approximately $9.7 million, or 3.7% during 2023, and by approximately $17.2 million, or 
6.9% during 2022. This is the result of increases in the number of System retirees and the average 
annuity payment. Benefit payments exceeded employee and City contributions by $29.6 million in 2023, 
and by $48.5 million in 2022.

The System’s time-weighted rate of return on investments for the year ended December 31, 2023, was   
12.5% gross of fees, and 12.3% net of fees, on a fair value basis, which was an increase from the return 
of -15.5% gross of fees, and -15.6% net of fees for the year ended December 31, 2022. The actuarial 
investment return assumption is 6.75%.

OVERVIEW OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

This discussion and analysis is intended to assist the reader's understanding of the purpose and meaning 
of each of the key components of COAERS’ financial statements, which are comprised of the following:

• Statement of Fiduciary Net Position
• Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
• Notes to the Financial Statements

Collectively, this information presents the net position held in trust for pension benefits as of the end of 
each year and summarizes the changes in net position held in trust for pension benefits for the year. The 
information available in each of these components is briefly summarized below:

Financial Statements

• The Statement of Fiduciary Net Position presents the System’s assets and liabilities and the 
resulting net position, which is held in trust for pension benefits. This statement reflects a year-end 
comparison of the Plan’s investments, at fair value, along with cash and short-term investments, 
receivables, and other assets and liabilities to the previous year.

• The Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position provides a view of current year additions to 
and deductions from the plan. 

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) December 31, 2023 & 2022Page 38 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
29

These two statements report the System’s net fiduciary position held in trust for pension benefits (net 
position restricted for pensions), the difference between assets and liabilities, as one way to measure 
COAERS’ financial position. Over time, increases and decreases in net position are one indicator of 
whether the System's financial health is improving or deteriorating.

• Notes to the Financial Statements provide important background and detailed information about 
COAERS, the plan, and the financial statements.

FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Summary of Fiduciary Net Position 
Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022, 2021

Assets

As shown in the table above, assets increased by $316.9 million in 2023 and decreased by $557.2 million 
in 2022, due primarily to the changes in the value of investments.

• During 2023, there was a $9.8 million increase in the net amount of cash and receivables; this 
resulted from a $8.7 million strategic increase in the amount of cash, which was offset by a $0.1 
million decrease in investment receivables and an increase of $1.2 million in contributions and 
other receivables. 

• During 2022, there was a $38.4 million increase in the net amount of cash and receivables; this 
resulted from a $8.4 million decrease in the amount of cash, which was offset by a $45.6 million 
increase in investment receivables and an increase of $1.2 million in contributions and other 
receivables. 

• In 2023, investments increased by $278.3 million; in 2022, investments decreased by $595.2 
million, reflective of the changes in the financial markets.

• In 2023, capital assets increased by $29.1 million attributed to the acquisition of the System’s office 
facility. In 2022, the decrease in capital assets reflects depreciation of furniture and equipment.

Assets 2023 2022 2021
Cash and receivables $ 81,885,874       72,077,402       33,705,576       
Other current assets -                         343,578            -                         
Investments 3,218,572,684  2,940,262,105  3,535,433,558  
Capital assets, net 32,527,687       3,403,389         4,125,172         
Total assets 3,332,986,245  3,016,086,474  3,573,264,306  

Liabilities
Total liabilities 54,273,929       56,290,713       8,104,462         

Net position restricted for pensions $ 3,278,712,316  2,959,795,761  3,565,159,844  

Summary of Fiduciary Net Position
December 31, 2023, 2022, 2021

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) December 31, 2023 & 2022

(CONTINUED)

Page 39 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
30

Liabilities

Liabilities decreased by $2.0 million in 2023 and increased by $48.2 million in 2022. These fluctuations 
were primarily due to changes in trades pending settlement.

Summary of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position 
Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022, 2021

Additions

Additions needed to fund benefits are accumulated through contributions and returns on investments. 
Contributions from COAERS members and the City of Austin for 2023 and 2022 totaled $244.5 million 
and $216.0 million, respectively. The 2023 contributions represent an increase of $28.5 million, or 13.2% 
above 2022. The 2022 contributions represent an increase of $7.8 million, or 3.7% above 2021. The 
2023 increase was due to the City’s hiring growth, an increase in base salaries on which employee and 
employer contributions were made, and employee service purchases. The increase in 2022 was due to 
an increase in base salaries on which employee and employer contributions were made.

In 2023, COAERS had a net investment appreciation on the fair value of its securities of $355.1 million, 
an increase of $905.3 million from 2022. In 2022, COAERS had a net investment depreciation on the fair 
value of its securities of $550.2 million, a decrease of $961.4 million from 2021. The appreciation and 
depreciation of the investments are due to the fluctuation in the financial markets. In 2023, interest and 
dividend income generated income of $53.3 million, an increase of $5.4 million from the 2022 income 
due primarily to higher interest rates. In 2023, investment expenses decreased by $0.3 million; in 2022, 
investment expenses decreased by $1.1 million. The total rate of return (net of fees) for the System’s 
investment portfolio in 2023 was 12.3%; in 2022 it was -15.6%.

2023 2022 2021
Additions:
     Contributions $ 244,509,559      215,988,408      208,237,660      

     Investment appreciation (depreciation) 360,418,271      (544,614,281)    417,958,864      
     Investment expenses 5,315,186          5,599,635          6,749,253          
           Net investment appreciation (depreciation) 355,103,085      (550,213,916)    411,209,611      

     Other income 2,010,379          126,935             962                    
           Total additions (deductions) 601,623,023      (334,098,573)    619,448,233      

Deductions:
       Benefit payments and contribution refunds 274,157,183      264,501,872      247,326,473      
       General and administrative expenses 8,549,285          6,763,638          6,528,499          
           Total deductions 282,706,468      271,265,510      253,854,972      

       Net increase (decrease) in net position 318,916,555      (605,364,083)    365,593,261      

Net position restricted for pensions:
        Beginning of year 2,959,795,761   3,565,159,844   3,199,566,583   
         End of year $ 3,278,712,316   2,959,795,761   3,565,159,844   

Summary of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
Years Ended December 31, 2023, 2022, 2021

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) December 31, 2023 & 2021

(CONTINUED)

Page 40 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
31

Deductions

The expenses paid by COAERS include benefit payments, refunds of member contributions, and 
administrative expenses.

Benefits paid in 2023 were $270.1 million, an increase of $10.7 million from payments made in 2022, 
which is consistent with an increase in the number of retirees to 7,802 in 2023. Refunds to terminating 
employees were $4.0 million in 2023, a decrease of $1.1 million from 2022. Administrative expenses in 
2023 were $8.5 million, an increase of $1.8 million, or 26.4% from 2022. This increase was largely driven 
by additional expenses associated with the office building acquired during 2023.

Benefits paid in 2022 were $259.4 million, an increase of $16.3 million from payments made in 2021, 
which is consistent with an increase in the number of retirees to 7,530 in 2022. Refunds to terminating 
employees were $5.1 million in 2022, an increase of $0.8 million from 2021. Administrative expenses in 
2022 were $6.8 million, an increase of $0.2 million, or 3.6% from 2021.

Overall Analysis

Overall, as of December 31, 2023, net position increased by $318.9 million, or 10.8%, from the prior year; 
over the three-year period ending December 31, 2023, net position increased by 2.5%.

CONTRIBUTIONS AND FUNDING INFORMATION

Senate Bill 1444, enacted on May 29, 2023, amended Article 6243n and introduced significant changes 
related to funding, contributions, benefits, and governance. These changes included transitioning to a 
flexible actuarially determined employer contribution rate, implementing a fixed payment schedule for the 
City of Austin to address the Unfunded Actuarial Accrued Liability (UAAL) within a 30-year period, and 
gradually increasing employee contributions to 9% in 2024 and 10% in 2025. The provisions of the bill will 
have a significantly positive impact on the funding of the System in future years.

REQUEST FOR INFORMATION

This financial report is designed to provide a general overview of the finances of the City of Austin 
Employees’ Retirement System for all parties with an interest. Questions concerning any of the information 
provided in this report or requests for additional financial information should be addressed to City of Austin 
Employees’ Retirement System, 4700 Mueller Boulevard, Suite 100, Austin, Texas 78723.

MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (Unaudited) December 31, 2023 & 2022

(CONCLUDED)

Page 41 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
32

CITY OF AUSTIN EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Retirement Restoration
Plan Plan Total

Cash and cash equivalents (note 3) $ 19,537,740 20,000 19,557,740

Receivables
Interest and dividends receivable 6,692,763        - 6,692,763        
Trades pending settlement 45,989,836      - 45,989,836      
Employer contributions receivable 6,737,379 - 6,737,379
Employee contributions receivable 2,823,423 - 2,823,423
Other 84,733 - 84,733

Total receivables 62,328,134      - 62,328,134

Investments, at fair value (note 3):  
US Equities 1,121,394,436 - 1,121,394,436
DM Equities 468,612,797 - 468,612,797
EM Equities 213,962,996 - 213,962,996
Fixed income 527,180,065 - 527,180,065
Real assets 443,223,702 - 443,223,702
Multi-asset 130,739,028 - 130,739,028
Cash and equivalents 313,459,660    - 313,459,660

Total investments 3,218,572,684 - 3,218,572,684

Capital assets, net (note 7) 32,527,687 - 32,527,687

Total assets 3,332,966,245 20,000 3,332,986,245

Payables
Accrued expenses 2,178,199 - 2,178,199
Trades pending settlement 47,685,678      - 47,685,678      
Refunds and death benefits payable 4,410,052 - 4,410,052

Total liabilities 54,273,929 - 54,273,929

Net position restricted for pensions $ 3,278,692,316 20,000 3,278,712,316

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

December 31, 2023

Assets

Liabilities

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION DECEMBER 31, 2023 Page 42 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
33

CITY OF AUSTIN EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

Retirement Restoration
Plan Plan Total

Cash and cash equivalents (note 3) $ 10,796,741 20,000 10,816,741

Receivables
Interest and dividends receivable 6,231,596        - 6,231,596        
Trades pending settlement 46,550,842      - 46,550,842      
Employer contributions receivable 5,911,143 - 5,911,143
Employee contributions receivable 2,486,343 - 2,486,343
Other 80,737 - 80,737

Total receivables 61,260,661      - 61,260,661

Other current assets 343,578           - 343,578

Investments, at fair value (note 3):  
US Equities 999,889,324 - 999,889,324
DM Equities 389,416,637 - 389,416,637
EM Equities 190,635,724 - 190,635,724
Fixed income 559,723,475 - 559,723,475
Real assets 465,255,669 - 465,255,669
Multi-asset 143,059,844 - 143,059,844
Cash and equivalents 192,281,432    - 192,281,432

Total investments 2,940,262,105 - 2,940,262,105

Capital assets, net (note 7) 3,403,389 - 3,403,389

Total assets 3,016,066,474 20,000 3,016,086,474

Payables
Accrued expenses 1,614,035 - 1,614,035
Trades pending settlement 50,811,224      - 50,811,224      
Refunds and death benefits payable 3,865,454 - 3,865,454

Total liabilities 56,290,713 - 56,290,713

Net position restricted for pensions $ 2,959,775,761 20,000 2,959,795,761

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Liabilities

December 31, 2022

Assets

STATEMENT OF FIDUCIARY NET POSITION DECEMBER 31, 2022 Page 43 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
34

CITY OF AUSTIN EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Retirement Restoration
Plan Plan Total

Additions:
Contributions:

Employer contributions (note 6) $ 163,839,285 97,305 163,936,590
Employee contributions (note 6) 80,572,969 - 80,572,969

Total contributions 244,412,254 97,305 244,509,559

Investment income:
Net appreciation in fair value of investments 307,153,542 - 307,153,542
Interest 20,056,394 - 20,056,394
Dividends 33,208,335 - 33,208,335
Less:  Investment expense (5,315,186) - (5,315,186)

Net investment appreciation (depreciation) 355,103,085 - 355,103,085

Other income 2,010,379          - 2,010,379         

Total additions (deductions) 601,525,718 97,305 601,623,023

Deductions:
Retirement annuities 262,203,404 97,305 262,300,709
Contributions refunded to terminating employees 4,033,161 - 4,033,161
DROP disbursements 2,541,362 - 2,541,362
Retiree lump-sum annuity 1,464,957 - 1,464,957
Death benefits 3,816,994 - 3,816,994

Total benefit payments, including refunds
of member contributions 274,059,878 97,305 274,157,183

General and administrative expenses 8,549,285 - 8,549,285

Total deductions 282,609,163 97,305 282,706,468

Net increase (decrease) in net position 318,916,555 - 318,916,555

Net position restricted for pensions:

Beginning of year 2,959,775,761 20,000 2,959,795,761

End of year $ 3,278,692,316 20,000 3,278,712,316

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Year ended December 31, 2023

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2023

Page 44 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
35

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FIDUCIARY NET POSITION

YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2022
CITY OF AUSTIN EMPLOYEES’ RETIREMENT SYSTEM

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position

Retirement Restoration
Plan Plan Total

Additions:
Contributions:

Employer contributions (note 6) $ 146,618,486 180,910 146,799,396
Employee contributions (note 6) 69,189,012 - 69,189,012

Total contributions 215,807,498 180,910 215,988,408

Investment income:
Net depreciation in fair value of investments (592,519,486) - (592,519,486)
Interest 13,503,542 - 13,503,542
Dividends 34,401,663 - 34,401,663
Less:  Investment expense (5,599,635) - (5,599,635)

Net investment appreciation (depreciation) (550,213,916) - (550,213,916)

Other income 126,935             - 126,935            

Total additions (deductions) (334,279,483) 180,910 (334,098,573)

Deductions:
Retirement annuities 247,862,193 180,910 248,043,103
Contributions refunded to terminating employees 5,075,851 - 5,075,851
DROP disbursements 4,166,660 - 4,166,660
Retiree lump-sum annuity 3,253,220 - 3,253,220
Death benefits 3,963,038 - 3,963,038

Total benefit payments, including refunds
of member contributions 264,320,962 180,910 264,501,872

General and administrative expenses 6,763,638 - 6,763,638

Total deductions 271,084,600 180,910 271,265,510

Net increase (decrease) in net position (605,364,083) - (605,364,083)

Net position restricted for pensions:

Beginning of year 3,565,139,844 20,000 3,565,159,844

End of year $ 2,959,775,761 20,000 2,959,795,761

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

Year ended December 31, 2022

Page 45 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
36

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022

NOTE 1: PLAN DESCRIPTION

Plan Administration 
The City of Austin Employees’ Retirement System (COAERS, or the System) administers the Plan, a 
single employer defined benefit pension plan that provides pensions for eligible employees of the City of 
Austin. 

The System was created under Article 6243n, Vernon’s Texas Civil Statutes (the Pension Statute), as 
amended. The Pension Statute grants the authority to establish and amend the benefit terms to the Texas 
State Legislature. Management of the Plan is vested in the eleven-member COAERS Board of Trustees, 
which is composed of:

• 4 Active members elected by the active membership
• 2 Retired members elected by the retired membership
• 2 City Council appointed citizen members
• 1 Board appointed citizen member
• 1 City Manager of the City of Austin or designee 
• 1 City Council Member      

As a result of the legislative change pursuant to SB1444, one of the elected active member positions was 
converted to the Chief Financial Officer of the City of Austin or designee effective January 1, 2024.

Plan Membership  
Participating employees include all regular, full-time employees who work at least 30 hours per week, 
except for civil service firefighters and civil service police officers. On December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 
membership consisted of the following: 

 

Benefits Provided 
The System provides service retirement, death, disability, and withdrawal benefits. Benefits vest with five 
years of creditable service.

Membership in the System is comprised of two benefit tiers: Group A and Group B.

Group A members continue under the plan originated in 1941. Participants may retire at age 62 with 5 
years of service credit, at age 55 with 20 years of service, or at any age with 23 years of service. Effective 
January 1, 2002 the monthly benefit was equal to 3.0% of the highest 36-month average annual salary of 
the last ten years multiplied by years and months of service.

2023 2022 2021
Inactive plan members or beneficiaries currently receiving benefits 7,802   7,530   7,221   
Inactive plan members entitled to but not yet receiving benefits 4,280   3,934   3,459   
Active plan members 11,197   10,438   10,228   

Total plan members 23,279   21,902   20,908   

Page 46 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
37

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

Group B members are employees who were hired on and after January 1, 2012, with the following 
provisions:

• Normal retirement eligibility at age 65 with 5 years of service credit; or at age 62 with 30 years of 
service credit;

• Early reduced retirement eligibility at age 55 with 10 years of service credit;
• An annuity formula multiplier of 2.5%;
• The purchase of nonqualified permissive service (supplementary service credit) for annuity 

calculations only, not for eligibility purposes. 

The following apply to both Group A and Group B:

• Effective in 2002, a member may elect to retroactively participate in the System’s Backward DROP 
(Deferred Retirement Option Program).  This program benefits retiring employees by allowing a 
lump-sum payment in lieu of additional creditable service time after reaching retirement eligibility.  
The Member would receive a lump-sum payment equal to 90% of the sum of the monthly annuities 
the participant would have received if the member had retired at the DROP entry date.  While the 
nomenclature used in the Pension Statute resembles that of an arrangement requiring additional 
disclosures under GASB 67, the COAERS Backward Drop benefit is technically different.  

• The lump sum death benefit payable upon the death of a retiree is $10,000.
• There is no guaranteed cost of living increase.        

Contributions   
Section 10 of Article 6243n of the Texas Civil Statutes sets the minimum contribution requirements of the 
City of Austin and active plan members. For the year ended December 31, 2023 the active employee 
contribution rate was 8% of base compensation and the City of Austin’s contribution rate was 19% of base 
compensation. The City of Austin’s 19% employer contribution rate became effective January 1, 2021. 
More detailed information about contributions can be found in Note 6.

Under the terms of the Plan, the System’s employees obtain membership and contribute to the Plan on 
the same basis as City employees. Since there is only one Plan, all actuarial calculations are provided on 
an aggregate basis.

The System participates in the Proportionate Retirement Program through which a member of the System 
may meet requirements for service retirement eligibility by combining COAERS membership service 
with service credit from the following participating entities: City of Austin Police Retirement System, the 
City of El Paso Employees’ Pension Fund and Firemen and Policemen’s Pension Fund, Employees 
Retirement System of Texas, Judicial Retirement System of Texas I & II, Texas Municipal Retirement 
System, Texas County and District Retirement System, Teacher Retirement System of Texas, or any other 
Texas retirement systems covering municipal employees that have qualified plans and have elected to 
participate in the Proportionate Retirement Program. A limited proportionate service arrangement was 
established in 2007 between COAERS and individuals who have membership in a retirement system 
within the Travis County Healthcare District.

Restoration Plan
On November 23, 1999, the Board adopted a resolution to establish a “Restoration of Retirement Income 
Plan for Certain Participants in the City of Austin Employees’ Retirement System” (Restoration Plan).

Page 47 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
38

This Restoration Plan was effective as of January 1, 2000 and is intended to be a “qualified governmental 
excess benefit arrangement” within the meaning of Section 415(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, and 
shall be construed, interpreted, and administered in accordance with such provision. The Restoration Plan 
shall be administered as an unfunded plan which is not intended to meet the qualification requirements 
of Section 401 of the Internal Revenue Code. Eligible members are those who are members in the 
Plan whose pension or pension related benefits under the Plan are limited due to the provision of  
Section 415(m) of the Internal Revenue Code.

All benefits payable under this Restoration Plan shall be paid by the City of Austin Employees’ Retirement 
System from contributions provided by the employer and not from the Fund or any other trust unless such 
trust is maintained solely for the purpose of providing benefits from this Restoration Plan. No contribution 
receivable is due for the years ended December 31, 2023, and 2022 for the Restoration Plan. Assets 
remaining in this plan as of December 31, 2023, and 2022, were $20,000.

On December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, membership in the Restoration Plan included the following:

Other Information     
The System is required by the state statute to maintain two separate funds in its internal accounting 
records. The first fund, defined in the statute as “Fund 1”, shall be maintained to account for all accumulated 
deposits (contributions and interest) of Members who have not withdrawn from the System. The second 
fund, defined as “Fund 2”, shall be maintained to account for all other net position of the System less the 
amount held in “Fund 3”; the third fund is maintained to account for accumulated contributions by the 
employer for the Internal Revenue Code Section 415 Restoration Plan as adopted by Board Resolution 
on November 23, 1999. On December 31, 2023, the balances of Fund 1, Fund 2, and Fund 3 were 
$684,851,187, $2,593,841,129, and $20,000, respectively. On December 31, 2022, the balances of Fund 
1, Fund 2, and Fund 3 were $637,967,531, $2,321,808,230, and $20,000, respectively.

2023 2022 2021
Retirees and beneficiaries 
currently receiving benefits 15 17 19

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED) Page 48 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
39

NOTE 2: SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND SYSTEM ASSET MATTERS

The System is not included in any other governmental “reporting entity” as defined by the Governmental 
Accounting Standards Board (GASB). The System has no component units and is not a component unit 
of any other entity.
  

a. Basis of Accounting
The System’s financial statements are prepared using the economic resources measurement 
focus and the accrual basis of accounting. Contributions are recognized when due pursuant to 
formal commitments, as well as statutory or contractual requirements; accordingly, contributions 
are recognized as revenues in the period in which the employer reports compensation for their 
employees. Benefits and refunds are recognized when due and payable in accordance with the 
terms of the Plan.

b. Cash and Cash Equivalents     
Cash and cash equivalents are held in demand deposit accounts. As of December 31, 2023 and 
2022, the book balances of the demand deposit accounts totaled $19,557,740 and $10,816,741, 
respectively.

c. Method Used to Value Investments 
Plan investments are reported at fair value. Fair value is the amount at which an investment 
could be exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or 
liquidation sale. Refer to Note 5(c) for more detail regarding the System’s policy on accounting for 
investments.

d. Contributions Receivable
The employee and City contributions for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022 that were 
not deposited with the System by year end are shown as contributions receivable.

e. Capital Assets
Capital assets are recorded at cost. The System capitalizes all assets purchased with a cost 
greater than $5,000. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over the assets’ 
estimated useful lives. Furniture and Equipment are scheduled with a useful life from three to ten 
years, while Building and Building Improvements are scheduled with a useful life from 20 to 40 
years.

f. System Expenses
Substantially, all System administrative costs are the responsibility of the System. The administrative 
costs are funded through the investment income.

g. Use of Estimates
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with United States Generally Accepted 
Accounting Principles (GAAP) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that 
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities 
at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during 
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED) Page 49 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
40

NOTE 3: DEPOSIT AND INVESTMENT RISK DISCLOSURE         

Bank deposits and investments are exposed to risks that have the potential to result in losses that 
could impact delivery of System services. The Board has adopted an Investment Policy Statement and 
Investment Implementation Policy to set forth the processes and procedures to be used in the management 
of investment assets for the System. These policies are incorporated by reference into every investment 
management agreement. These documents are designed to mitigate risk by requiring that investment 
activities be conducted in compliance with these policy guidelines by ensuring portfolio diversification, 
qualifying counterparties, establishing sufficient collateralization, and limiting maturity. The System’s 
Board, in accordance with the power and authority conferred under the Texas Statutes, has employed 
The Bank of New York Mellon as the master custodian of the investment assets of the System.

The following summary of total investments by type presents the System’s investment mix as of December 
31, 2023 and 2022.

2023 2022
Global equities:

US equities $ 1,486,425,575   1,321,385,448   
Developed markets equities 317,544,654      258,556,237      

1,803,970,229   1,579,941,685   
Fixed income:

Corporate bonds 84,561,188        106,171,553      
Government bonds 371,221,110      355,999,358      
Government mortgage-backed securities 71,397,767        97,552,564        

527,180,065      559,723,475      
Real assets:

Real estate equity
US REITs 116,519,339      130,664,601      
Real estate institutional collective trust 164,470,378      184,237,745      

280,989,717      314,902,346      
Infrastructure: 

US equities 34,649,622        32,872,086        
Developed markets equities 31,894,495        29,186,315        
Limited partnership 95,689,868        88,294,922        

162,233,985      150,353,323      
Multi-asset:

Asset allocation 90,193,941        106,087,904      
Commodities & other 40,545,087        36,971,940        

130,739,028      143,059,844      
Short-term investments:

US Dollar 262,663,737      141,043,946      
Foreign currency 50,795,923        51,237,486        

313,459,660      192,281,432      

Investments at fair value on balance sheet 3,218,572,684   2,940,262,105   
Receivables, payables and pending trades, net 4,043,135          989,054            

Total investments (per investment consultant) $ 3,222,615,819   2,941,251,159   

The asset allocation noted in the table above shows the composition to reflect the classification of investments for 
GASB 40 presentation purposes. Certain amounts have been reclassified from international to US equities as they 
are denominated in U.S. dollars.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED) Page 50 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
41

Custodial Credit Risk   
Custodial credit risk for deposits is the risk that, in the event of the failure of a depository financial institution, 
the System will not be able to recover its deposits or will not be able to recover collateral securities that 
are in the possession of an outside party. COAERS' operating bank account deposits in excess of Federal 
Deposit Insurance Corporation (FDIC) insured amounts are backed by US government, treasury and 
agency securities, repurchase agreements, and pledged securities held as collateral. As of December 31, 
2023 and 2022, the System’s operating bank balances of $19,557,740, and $10,816,741, respectively, 
were not exposed to custodial credit risk. 

Custodial credit risk for investments is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty to a 
transaction, the System will not be able to recover the value of its investment or collateral securities that are 
in the possession of an outside party. Investment securities are exposed to custodial risk if the securities 
are uninsured, are not registered in the name of the System, and/or are not held by the counterparty in 
the System’s name. The System’s investment securities are not exposed to custodial credit risk because 
all securities are held by the System’s custodial bank in the System’s name. Additionally, as of December 
31, 2023 and 2022, the System held liquidity reserve balances at BNYM of $1,019,537, and $1,005,060, 
respectively. The account is not backed with collateral securities and is exposed to custodial credit risk.

Concentration of Credit Risk
Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of the System’s investment in a 
single issuer. The following restrictions apply to System investments by asset class as of December 31, 
2023:

(Restrictions continued on next page)

Minimum Maximum
46% 66%

US Equity 22% 47%
Developed Market  Equity 11% 20%
Emerging Market Equity 2% 13%

16% 33%
US Treasuries 9% 25%
US Mortgages 2% 8%
US Credit 1% 10%

10% 20%
Real Estate Equity 5% 15%
Infrastructure Equity 0% 10%

2.5% 15%
Asset Allocation 2.5% 10%
Commodities & Other 0% 10%

-10% 10%

Multi-Asset

Cash & Equivalents

Asset Class
Global Equity (a)

Real Assets

Fixed Income (b)

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED) Page 51 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
42

a. Global Equity
• No single company’s securities shall represent more than 6% of the fair value of any manager’s 

portfolio.
 
b. Fixed Income

• No single issuer’s securities shall represent more than 6% of the Portfolio at market. This 
restriction also applies to asset-backed securities, non-agency mortgage-backed securities 
(including commercial mortgage-backed securities) and taxable municipal securities. This 
restriction does not apply to any agency mortgage-backed securities (including agency 
commercial mortgage-backed securities).

• The total holdings of a federal agency issued mortgage-backed security of the same coupon 
and maturity series of the same agency (i.e., issuance by issuance as identified by the same 
CUSIP) shall not exceed 20% of the Portfolio at fair value. Such securities include, but are 
not limited to, those issued by Government National Mortgage Association (GNMA), Federal 
National Mortgage Association (FNMA), and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation 
(FHMLC).

• The direct debt of the U.S. government (Treasury bonds, TIPS, bills, and notes) and its 
agencies (including any mortgage-backed securities issued or guaranteed by GNMA, FNMA 
and FHLMC) shall not be restricted as a percentage of the Portfolio.

• SEC Rule 144(a) securities shall be limited to no more than 5% of the portfolio at market value 
of any manager’s portfolio.

c. Other Investment Information          
• As of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the following was the composition of the System’s portfolio: 

The asset allocation noted in the table above shows the composition percentages to reflect the 
classification of investments for GASB 40 presentation purposes. Certain amounts have been reclassified 
from international to US equities as they are denominated in U.S. dollars.

2023 2022
US equities 46.18% 44.94%
Developed markets equities 9.87% 8.79%
Fixed income

Corporate bonds 2.63% 3.61%
Government bonds 11.53% 12.11%
Government mortgage-backed securities 2.22% 3.32%

Real estate equity
US REITs 3.62% 4.44%
Real estate institutional collective trust 5.11% 6.27%

Infrastructure
US equities 1.08% 1.12%
International equities 0.99% 0.99%
Limited partnership 2.97% 3.00%

Multi-asset 2.80% 3.61%
Commodities & other 1.26% 1.26%
Short-term investments

US Dollar 8.16% 4.80%
Foreign currency 1.58% 1.74%

100.00% 100.00%

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED) Page 52 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
43

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

Interest Rate Risk   
Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment. 
The System’s policies regarding interest rate risk do not explicitly limit maturities of investments by type 
but do require fixed income managers to disclose the credit exposure and portfolio duration of their 
portfolios in their quarterly reports. The System monitors the Fund level interest rate risk primarily using 
duration, which is a widely used measure of interest rate sensitivity. Mortgage obligations are sensitive to 
changes in prepayments that may arise from a change in interest rates.

As of December 31, 2023, the System held the following investments and duration:

As of December 31, 2022, the System held the following investments and duration: 

 
 
 
 
 

Credit Risk
Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations to 
the System. To control credit risk, credit quality guidelines are incorporated into the Investment Policy 
Statement and Investment Implementation Policy as follows:

• Fixed income securities shall not be rated lower than investment grade (Baa3 by Moody’s or BBB 
by Standard & Poor’s or Fitch) by any of the three designated rating agencies unless authorization 
is granted to a Manager by the Board, or the mandate provided to a Manager specifies otherwise. 

• Split rated securities in which the middle rating is below investment grade shall not comprise more 
than 5% of the fair value of any manager’s portfolio unless specific authority has been granted. 

• The issues of individual entities rated AAA to Aa3 (Moody’s) or AA- (Standard & Poor’s and Fitch) 
may have a 7% position at market value.

• Issues of individual entities rated below Aa3 (Moody’s) or AA- (Standard & Poor’s and Fitch) may 
have a 3% position at fair value.

• The ratings criteria and percentage limit requirements do not apply to direct obligations of the US 
Government and its agencies (including GNMA, FNMA and FHLMC) as defined in the Permissible 
Investments section of Investment Implementation Policy, but the securities issued by any one 
issuer shall not otherwise, in the aggregate, exceed the foregoing limitations.

Investment type Fair value Effective Duration
Corporate Bonds $ 84,561,188       6.82                        
Government Bonds 371,221,110     5.38                        
Government mortgage-backed

Securities 71,397,767       5.94                        
$ 527,180,065     5.67                        

Investment type Fair value Effective Duration
Corporate Bonds $ 106,171,553     7.31                        
Government Bonds 355,999,358     8.01                        
Government mortgage-backed

Securities 97,552,564       6.52                        
$ 559,723,475     7.63                        

Page 53 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
44

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

• If specific managers are given latitude to invest in securities issued by non-U.S. entities, the same 
quality restrictions apply.

• Money market instruments shall have a minimum quality rating comparable to an A3 (Moody’s) or 
A- (Standard & Poor’s and Fitch) bond rating and commercial paper shall be rated A1/P1 unless 
held in a diversified short term commingled fund.

The quality ratings of investments in fixed income securities as described by nationally recognized 
statistical rating organizations on December 31, 2023, are as follows: 

The quality ratings of investments in fixed income securities as described by nationally recognized 
statistical rating organizations on December 31, 2022, are as follows:

                   
 

Foreign Currency Risk
Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an 
investment or a deposit.

The System’s exposure to currency risk, or exchange rate risk, primarily resides within the System’s 
international equity investment holdings. The System’s Investment Policy is to allow its active managers 
to decide whether to hedge the currency risk in their respective portfolios.

AAA $ 71,397,767  -                        71,397,767                         
BBB 84,561,188  84,561,188           -                                      
Total credit risk of debt securities 155,958,955  84,561,188  71,397,767                         
US govt. & agencies* 371,221,110  

$ 527,180,065  

*Obligations of the US government or obligations explicitly guaranteed by the US government are not considered 
   to have credit risk and do not have purchase limitations.

Standard & Poor's Quality Rating Total fair value Corporate bonds
Government mortgage-

backed securities

AAA $ 97,552,564  -                        97,552,564                         
BBB 106,171,553  106,171,553         -                                     
Total credit risk of debt securities 203,724,117  106,171,553  97,552,564                         
US govt. & agencies* 355,999,358  

$ 559,723,475  

*Obligations of the US government or obligations explicitly guaranteed by the US government are not considered 
   to have credit risk and do not have purchase limitations.

Standard & Poor's Quality Rating Total fair value Corporate bonds
Government mortgage-

backed securities

Page 54 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
45

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

The System’s exposure to foreign currency risk includes the following international investments (short-
term investments and equity) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Cash & 2023
Currency Cash Equivalents Equity Fair value

Australian Dollar $ 238,786                         18,267,138                   18,505,924                   
Canadian Dollar 41,299                           21,479,416                   21,520,715                   
Danish Krone -                                  12,155,977                   12,155,977                   
Euro 2,081,382                     95,290,280                   97,371,662                   
Hong Kong Dollar 368                                 9,308,892                     9,309,260                     
Japanese Yen 46,467,209                   46,699,332                   93,166,541                   
New Zealand Dollar 350                                 428,276                         428,626                         
Norwegian Krone 120,285                         1,557,500                     1,677,785                     
UK Pound Sterling 1,845,421                     112,231,094                 114,076,515                 
Singapore Dollar 211                                 3,992,210                     3,992,421                     
Swedish Krona -                                  3,427,445                     3,427,445                     
Swiss Franc 612                                 24,601,589                   24,602,201                   
 Total $ 50,795,923                   349,439,149                400,235,072                

Cash & 2022
Currency Cash Equivalents Equity Fair value

Australian Dollar $ 37,302                           13,779,106                   13,816,408                   
Canadian Dollar 9,365                             17,861,238                   17,870,603                   
Danish Krone -                                  18,121,346                   18,121,346                   
Euro 2,717,418                     70,260,066                   72,977,484                   
Hong Kong Dollar 2,399                             11,193,884                   11,196,283                   
Japanese Yen 44,725,181                   36,381,946                   81,107,127                   
New Zealand Dollar 1,906                             334,612                         336,518                         
Norwegian Krone 2,388                             -                                  2,388                             
UK Pound Sterling 3,736,321                     92,983,523                   96,719,844                   
Singapore Dollar 3,041                             3,550,631                     3,553,672                     
Swedish Krona -                                  1,821,189                     1,821,189                     
Swiss Franc 2,165                             21,455,011                   21,457,176                   
 Total $ 51,237,486                   287,742,552                338,980,038                

The System’s exposure to foreign currency risk also includes the following trades pending settlement as 
of December 31, 2023 and 2022:

Currency Investment type
Japanese Yen Currency forward $ 46,668,292       44,933,128              

 2023 
Fair value 

 2022 
Fair value 

Page 55 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
46

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

Foreign Currency Forwards
The System periodically invests in foreign currency forwards to hedge the value of a portion of its investments 
denominated in foreign currencies. Currency forwards are an agreement between the System and a 
counterparty to exchange a specific amount of currency, at a specific rate, and specific date. Beginning 
in 2022, COAERS implemented a cash enhancement strategy that utilizes both foreign sovereign short-
term debt and currency forwards. The System’s forward contracts are classified as pending trades on 
the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position, and the changes in their fair value are classified as investment 
appreciation/depreciation on the Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position. As of December 31, 
2023, the fair value of the payable for forward foreign exchange contracts was $46,668,292, an increase of 
$1,735,164 and related contracts receivable was $ 45,055,175, an increase of $2,226,852 from December 
31, 2022. The fair value of the payable for forward foreign exchange contracts was $44,933,128, and 
related contracts receivable was $42,828,323 as of December 31, 2022. The forward contracts had no 
notional amount.

NOTE 4: FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

In accordance with GASB 72, COAERS categorizes the fair value measurements of its investments 
within a fair value hierarchy as established by Generally Accepted Accounting Principles. Fair value 
measurements are classified as Level 1, Level 2, or Level 3, based on the inputs utilized to establish fair 
value:

Level 1 inputs are based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or 
liabilities in active markets that an entity can access at the measurement date.

Level 2 inputs (other than quoted prices included within Level 1) are observable for similar assets or 
liabilities, either directly or indirectly. These include quoted prices of securities that are comparable in 
coupon, rating, maturity and industry. Inputs other than observable quoted prices take into account 
operational, market, financial and non-financial factors (interest rates, yield curves, credit risk, and 
default rates) or other market corroborated inputs that are observable at commonly quoted intervals 
for the full term of the investment.

Level 3 inputs are developed by the reporting entity based on unobservable inputs for an asset or 
liability.

For investments in certain entities that calculate net asset value and do not have a readily determinable 
fair value, fair value reporting is permitted based on the NAV per share (or its equivalent) as a practical 
expedient, where certain conditions are met. These investments are not included in the leveling hierarchy.
 
The categorization of investments described above is based solely upon the objectivity of the inputs used, 
to reflect their relative reliability in the measurement of an investment’s fair value and does not reflect the 
level of risk associated with the investment.

All equities securities, which include U.S., International, Emerging Markets, Real Estate Investment 
Trusts, and Infrastructure, are classified in Level 1 of the fair value hierarchy as these are valued using 
quoted prices in active markets for those investments.

The investments classified in Level 2 of the fair value hierarchy have available prices but are not traded in 
an active market. Short-term investment funds, and domestic fixed income, all fall into this category based 
on this criteria. Collective Trusts have daily liquidity available at a single NAV are classified as Level 2. 

COAERS investments have the following fair value measurements as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, 
respectively.

Page 56 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
47

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

Quoted prices in 
active markets for 
identical assets

Significant other 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
Net asset 

value 
 Investments at fair value: Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) (NAV)

 Short-term investments
US Dollar 262,663,737$     65,589,415         197,074,322     -                -              
Foreign currency 50,795,923         4,328,991           46,466,932       -                -              

313,459,660       69,918,406         243,541,254     

 Fixed income
Corporate bonds 84,561,188         -                      84,561,188       -                -              
Government bonds 371,221,110       60,536,645         310,684,465     -                -              
Government mortgage-backed securities 71,397,767         -                      71,397,767       -                -              

527,180,065       60,536,645         466,643,420     -                -              

 Global equities
US equities

US equities 895,909,683       895,909,683       -                   -                -              
US equity collective trust 225,484,753       -                      225,484,753     -                -              

1,121,394,436    895,909,683       225,484,753     -                -              

Developed markets equities
Developed markets equities 393,395,806       393,395,806       -                   -                -              
Developed markets equity collective trust 75,216,991         -                      75,216,991       -                -              

468,612,797       393,395,806       75,216,991       -                -              

Emerging markets equities
Emerging markets equities 8,129,205           8,129,205           -                   -                -              
Emerging markets collective trust 76,297,605         -                      76,297,605       -                -              
Emerging markets equity mutual fund 129,536,186       129,536,186       -                   -                -              

213,962,996       137,665,391       76,297,605       -                -              

 Real assets
Real estate equity

US REITS 116,519,339       116,519,339       -                   -                -              
Real estate institutional collective trust 164,470,378       -                      164,470,378     -                -              

280,989,717       116,519,339       164,470,378     -                -              

Infrastructure & other
US equities 34,649,622         34,649,622         -                   -                -              
International equities 31,894,495         31,894,495         -                   -                -              

66,544,117         66,544,117         -                   -                -              

 Multi-asset
Asset allocation 90,193,941         90,193,941         -                   -                -              
Commodities & other 40,545,087         40,545,087         -                   -                -              

130,739,028       130,739,028       -                   -                -              

 Total investments by fair value level 3,122,882,816    1,871,228,415    1,251,654,401  -                -              

 Investments measured at NAV:
Infrastructure

Infrastructure limited partnership 95,689,868         -                      -                   -                95,689,868 

 Total investments 3,218,572,684$  

Foreign exchange contracts (liabilities) (46,668,292)$      

2023
Fair value measurements using

Page 57 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
48

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

IFM’s Global Infrastructure Fund invests in core infrastructure assets in developed markets. The 
investment in the fund is through a Delaware limited partnership, which offers quarterly redemptions 
given 90 days notice.

Fair Value
Unfunded 

Commitments
Redemption 
Frequency Redemption Notice

Infrastructure limited partnership 95,689,868      -                           Quarterly 90 days

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)

2023

Page 58 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
49

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

Quoted prices in 
active markets for 
identical assets

Significant other 
observable 

inputs

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
Net asset 

value 
 Investments at fair value: Total (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) (NAV)

 Short-term investments
US Dollar 141,043,946$     21,317,382         119,726,564     -                -              
Foreign currency 51,237,486         6,514,217           44,723,269       -                -              

192,281,432       27,831,599         164,449,833     

 Fixed income
Corporate bonds 106,171,553       -                      106,171,553     -                -              
Government bonds 355,999,358       59,804,325         296,195,033     -                -              
Government mortgage-backed securities 97,552,564         -                      97,552,564       -                -              

559,723,475       59,804,325         499,919,150     -                -              

 Global equities
US equities

US equities 775,833,445       775,833,445       -                    -                -              
US equity collective trust 224,055,879       -                      224,055,879     -                -              

999,889,324       775,833,445       224,055,879     -                -              

Developed markets equities
Developed markets equities 323,119,870       323,119,870       -                    -                -              
Developed markets equity collective trust 66,296,767         -                      66,296,767       -                -              

389,416,637       323,119,870       66,296,767       -                -              

Emerging markets equities
Emerging markets equities 7,442,687           7,442,687           -                    -                -              
Emerging markets collective trust 69,958,437         -                      69,958,437       -                -              
Emerging markets equity mutual fund 113,234,600       113,234,600       -                    -                -              

190,635,724       120,677,287       69,958,437       -                -              

 Real assets
Real estate equity

US REITS 130,664,601       130,664,601       -                    -                -              
Real estate institutional collective trust 184,237,745       -                      184,237,745     -                -              

314,902,346       130,664,601       184,237,745     -                -              

Infrastructure & other
US equities 32,872,086         32,872,086         -                    -                -              
International equities 29,186,315         29,186,315         -                    -                -              

62,058,401         62,058,401         -                    -                -              

 Multi-asset
Asset allocation 106,087,904       106,087,904       -                    -                -              
Commodities & other 36,971,940         36,971,940         -                    -                -              

143,059,844       143,059,844       -                    -                -              

 Total investments by fair value level 2,851,967,183    1,643,049,372    1,208,917,811  -                -              

 Investments measured at NAV:
Infrastructure

Infrastructure limited partnership 88,294,922         -                      -                    -                88,294,922 

 Total investments 2,940,262,105$  

Foreign exchange contracts (liabilities) (44,933,128)$      

2022
Fair value measurements using

Page 59 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
50

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

Fair Value
Unfunded 

Commitments
Redemption 
Frequency Redemption Notice

Infrastructure limited partnership 88,294,922       ‐                            Quarterly 90 days

Investments measured at the net asset value (NAV)

2022

IFM’s Global Infrastructure Fund invests in core infrastructure assets in developed markets. The 
investment in the fund is through a Delaware limited partnership, which offers quarterly redemptions 
given 90 days notice.

Page 60 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
51

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

NOTE 5: PENSION PLAN INVESTMENTS

a.   Investment Policy
The Board has the authority to establish the investment policy and the asset allocation policy. The 
general investment objective is to obtain a reasonable long-term total return consistent with the degree 
of risk assumed, while emphasizing the preservation of capital. There were no significant investment 
policy changes during the period ending December 31, 2023.  

b.   Asset Allocation 
The System’s strategic asset allocation neutral weights as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, as 
adopted by the Board of Trustees, are as follows: 

2023 2022

US equities 34.0% 34.0%
Developed markets equities 16.0% 16.0%
Emerging markets equities 6.0% 6.0%
Fixed income 21.0% 21.0%
Real estate 10.0% 10.0%
Infrastructure 5.0% 5.0%
Multi-asset 5.0% 5.0%
Commodities & other 2.0% 2.0%
Cash & equivalents 1.0% 1.0%

100.0% 100.0%

 
c.   Method Used to Value Investments

• The System’s equity and fixed income investments are reported at fair value based on independent 
pricing services.

• Short-term cash investments are reported at cost, which approximates fair value.
• International securities are reported at fair value in US dollars converted at current exchange 

rates.
• Investments that do not have an established market are valued based on the net asset value 

provided by independent audits.
• The System’s pooled investments include collective investment trusts, mutual funds, and limited 

partnerships. The investments are priced at the net asset value per share by the fund administrators 
or general partners, and pricing of securities and financial instruments is according to each fund's 
established framework to ensure a fair, accurate and consistent valuation.

• The System’s derivative instruments include futures, options, warrants and forwards. Futures, 
options, and warrants  are executed on an exchange, priced at the last sale price in their 
respective active markets. Forwards’ pricing is negotiated between the investment manager and 
the respective counterparty. 

• Investment income is recognized in the period earned, and purchases and sales of investments 
are recorded on a trade date basis. Net appreciation/depreciation in Plan investments includes 
both realized and unrealized gains and losses.

Page 61 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
52

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

d.  Rate of Return 
For the year ended December 31, 2023, the annual money-weighted rate of return on System 
investments net of pension plan investment expense was 12.31%, an increase from -15.63% on 
December 31, 2022. The money-weighted rate of return expresses investment performance, net of 
investment expense, adjusted for the changing amounts actually invested.

e.  Concentrations 
If the pension plan held investments (other than those issued or explicitly guaranteed by the U.S. 
government, commingled funds, and other pooled investments) in any one organization representing 
5% or more of the pension plan’s fiduciary net position, the pension plan should disclose this information. 
On December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no holdings that exceeded this disclosure trigger.

NOTE 6: CONTRIBUTIONS AND FUNDING POLICY

As of December 31, 2023, and 2022, state law required contributions equal to 8% of base compensation 
by the participants. Employers contributed 19% of base compensation.

In 2005, the City of Austin City Council approved a Supplemental Funding Plan (SFP) relating to the 
System. The basic elements of this plan provided for an initial 1% contribution from the City beginning 
in October 2006 and increasing 1% each year until reaching a cap of 4%. This additional funding would 
continue as long as necessary, and in an amount necessary, up to 4%, to sustain a 25-year funding period. 
While compliance with the SFP continued into 2010, the negative impact of 2008 capital markets on the 
Plan rendered the effect of SFP, the contributions of which had reached the 4% maximum, inadequate to 
achieve the System’s funding goal.

An Amended Supplemental Funding Plan, adopted by the City Council in October 2010, increased the 
total employer contribution to the System to 14% of base compensation effective October 1, 2010. The 
Amended Supplemental Funding Plan also increased future employer contributions as follows: 16% of 
base compensation effective October 1, 2011 for fiscal year 2011-12; and 18% of base compensation 
effective October 1, 2012 for fiscal year 2012-13, and each fiscal year thereafter. Effective January 1, 
2021, the City increased its supplemental employer contribution to 19% of base compensation.

The provisions of Senate Bill 1444, enacted on May 29, 2023 will require the annual calculation of the 
employer's actuarially determined contribution rate based on the normal cost, as well as gains and losses 
of the System amortized over the period of time established in SB 1444. Additionally, the City of Austin will 
make an annual payment on the legacy liability until it is exhausted in 2054.

Page 62 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
53

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

NOTE 7: CAPITAL ASSETS                                              

The following summarizes the capital asset account balances as of December 31, 2023 and December 
31, 2022, and changes to the accounts during the years then ended:

Balance Balance Balance
12/31/2021 Additions Disposals 12/31/2022 Additions Disposals 12/31/2023

Capital assets not being depreciated:
Land $ -                 -               -               -                 8,625,000    -               8,625,000    

Capital assets being depreciated:
Furniture and equipment 6,774,866  6,774,866  117,014       6,891,880    
Building and improvements -                 -                 21,483,768  21,483,768  
Total 6,774,866  -               -               6,774,866  21,600,782  -               28,375,648  

Less accumulated depreciation:
Furniture and equipment 2,649,694  721,783   3,371,477  662,129       4,033,606    
Building and improvements -                 439,355       439,355       
Total 2,649,694  721,783   -               3,371,477  1,101,484    -               4,472,961    

$ 4,125,172  (721,783)  -               3,403,389  29,124,298  -               32,527,687  
Total capital assets, net of 
accumulated depreciation

NOTE 8: FEDERAL INCOME TAXES

The Plan is a Public Employee Retirement System and is exempt from federal income taxes. A favorable 
determination letter from the Internal Revenue Service was issued in February 2014.

NOTE 9: RISK MANAGEMENT       

The System is exposed to various risks of loss related to torts; errors; omission; theft of, damage to, and 
destruction of assets; and natural disasters. The risk of loss for such events is transferred through the 
purchase of various commercial insurance policies. Insurance for workers compensation is maintained 
in accordance with Texas state law. Management has in place a system of managing risk and reporting 
mitigation activities to the Board periodically.

Page 63 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
54

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

NOTE 10: NET PENSION LIABILITY 

The net pension liability is measured as the total pension liability, less the amount of the pension plan’s 
fiduciary net position. In actuarial terms, this will be the accrued liability less the fair value of assets. The 
components of COAERS’ net pension liability on December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 was as 
follows:

Schedule of Net Pension Liability

 

In addition to the above, this information is presented in the Required Supplementary Information section. 
The Schedule of Changes in Net Pension Liability and Related Ratios presents multi-year trend information 
(beginning with FY 2014) to illustrate changes in the plan's fiduciary net positions over time, relative to 
the total pension liability.

a. Actuarial Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Total Pension Liability                                             
 The total pension liability was determined by an actuarial valuation as of December 31,  
 2023, using the following actuarial assumptions: 

Summary of Actuarial Assumptions

Valuation date: December 31, 2023
Notes   Members and employers contribute based on statutorily fixed or  
   negotiated rates. A funding period is solved for through open group  
   projections. The actuarially determined contribution is determined by 
   applying the contribution rate from the funding valuation based on the 
   Board's Funding Policy to the calendar year payroll following the 
   valuation date. In other words, the contribution rate determined by the  
   December 31, 2022 valuation is used to determine the actuarially  
   determined contribution amount for the period January 1, 2023  
   through December 31, 2023.

FY Ending  
December 31

Total Pension 
Liability

Plan Net 
Position

Net Pension 
Liability

Plan Net 
Position as a % 

of Total 
Pension 
Liability

2023 $5,617,502,302 3,278,692,316$ 2,338,809,986$ 58.37%
2022 $5,884,128,584 2,959,775,761$ 2,924,352,823$ 50.30%

Page 64 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
55

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONTINUED)

Methods and Assumptions Used to Determine Total Pension Liability:
Actuarial Cost method  Entry Age Normal 
Inflation      2.50%                     
Salary increases   3.50% to 5.75%    
Investment Rate of Return  6.75%
Retirement Age    Experience-based table of rates that are gender  
     specific. Last updated for December 31, 2019 valuation  
     pursuant to an experience study of the 5-year period  
     ending December 31, 2018.
Mortality    PubG-2010 Healthy General Tables with full generational  
     projection assuming immediate convergence of rates in  
     the mortality projection scale MP-2018, 2D for male and  
     female.  Mortality improvement is projected from the  
     mortality table’s base year of 2010. 
Other Information:
Notes       There were no benefit changes reflected in the Actuarially   
     Determined Employer Contribution (ADEC) for 2023. SB   
     1444 which was enacted in 2023 will impact the ADEC for  
     calendar year 2024

The Plan does not require regular ad hoc post-employment benefits, and none have been made 
since 2002.        

b. Single Discount Rate
In fiscal year 2023,  the single discount rate was 6.75%. This single discount rate was based on 
the actuarial assumed long-term expected rate of return of 6.75% and the municipal bond rate of 
3.77%. The projection of cash flows used to determine this single discount rate assumed that plan 
member contributions and employer contributions will be made in accordance with the actuarial
determined contributions as specified by statute. Based on these assumptions, the pension 
plan’s fiduciary net position was projected to be sufficient to finance the projected future benefit 
payments of current plan members. As a result, the long-term expected rate of return on pension 
plan investments was applied to projected benefit payments. 

In fiscal year 2022, the single discount rate was 5.87%. This single discount rate was based 
on the actuarial assumed long-term expected rate of return of 6.75% and the municipal bond 
rate of 4.05%. The 6.75% actuarial assumed long-term expected rate of return on pension plan 
investments was applied to projected benefit payments through the 2057 fiscal year, and the 
municipal bond rate of 4.05% was applied to all benefit payments after that date. 

Long-Term Expected Real Rate of Return
Asset Class
Global equities 5.35% 4.30%
Fixed income 1.50% -0.19%
Real assets 4.58% 4.00%
Multi-asset 4.37% 3.20%
Cash & equivalents 0.00% -1.00%

2023 2022

Estimates are arithmetic as provided by RVK. The real rate of return of an investment is defined as the rate of return 
after adjustment to eliminate inflation. RVK's inflation expectation was 2.50% for 2023 and 2022.

Page 65 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
56

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS DECEMBER 31, 2023 & 2022 (CONCLUDED)

c. Sensitivity of the Net Pension Liability to Changes in the Discount Rate 
Regarding the sensitivity of the net pension liability to changes in the Single Discount Rate, the 
following presents the plan’s net pension liability, calculated using a Single Discount Rate of 
6.75%, as well as what the plan’s net pension liability would be if it were calculated using a Single 
Discount Rate that is one percent lower or one percent higher:

Sensitivity of Net Pension Liability to the Single Discount Rate Assumption

 

1% Decrease

Current Single 
Discount Rate 
Assumption 1% Increase

5.75% 6.75% 7.75%

 $   3,061,388,682 2,338,809,986$              $   1,745,894,787 

NOTE 11: SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On May 29, 2023, SB 1444 was signed into law, which instituted future contribution changes beginning 
January 2024 and beyond to include: transitioning to a flexible actuarially determined employer contribution 
rate; establishing a fixed payment schedule for the City of Austin to pay off the UAAL (Unfunded Actuarial 
Accrued Liability) within a 30-year fixed period (known as the “legacy liability”); and incrementally raising 
employee contributions to 9% in 2024 and 10% in 2025. The employer’s actuarially determined contribution 
rate for 2024 is 8.68% and, in addition, the City of Austin’s UAAL payment is $98,896,162.

Page 66 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
57

Fis
ca

l y
ea

r e
nd

ing
 D

ec
em

be
r 3

1,
20

23
20

22
20

21
20

20
20

19
20

18
20

17
20

16
20

15
20

14
To

ta
l P

en
sio

n 
Li

ab
ilit

y
Se

rvi
ce

 C
os

t
17

5,9
11

,65
3

$  
   

13
2,5

73
,97

8
$  

   
12

2,8
60

,28
6

$  
   

12
1,8

81
,35

4
$  

   
11

7,6
35

,21
5

$  
   

11
1,4

38
,03

2
$  

   
10

7,7
67

,51
0

$  
   

10
7,1

11
,33

0
$  

   
93

,50
6,5

90
$  

    
 

89
,23

5,2
67

$  
    

  
Int

er
es

t o
n t

he
 T

ota
l P

en
sio

n L
iab

ilit
y

34
2,5

17
,69

7
    

   
33

5,2
16

,45
5

    
   

32
4,7

35
,71

3
    

   
31

0,3
18

,95
3

    
   

29
5,3

41
,49

0
    

   
28

1,4
03

,65
1

    
   

26
6,2

57
,04

8
    

   
25

1,6
84

,05
1

    
   

23
6,8

43
,91

2
    

   
22

2,7
09

,91
1

    
    

Be
ne

fit 
Ch

an
ge

s
(5

,14
8,5

92
)

    
    

  
-

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
-

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
-

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
-

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
-

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
-

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
-

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
-

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
-

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
Di

ffe
re

nc
e b

etw
ee

n E
xp

ec
ted

 an
d A

ctu
al 

Ex
pe

rie
nc

e
12

2,1
35

,39
9

    
   

60
,42

9,1
33

    
    

 
(1

1,9
10

,39
6)

    
    

12
,52

4,4
83

    
    

 
23

,67
1,5

97
    

    
 

1,8
82

,43
6

    
    

   
22

,75
4,6

18
    

    
 

19
,91

3,6
90

    
    

 
13

,41
3,7

89
    

    
 

33
,91

1,0
10

    
    

  
As

su
mp

tio
n C

ha
ng

es
(6

27
,98

2,5
61

)
    

  
58

8,1
86

,77
9

    
   

14
2,2

69
,82

9
    

   
-

    
    

    
    

    
    

  
27

9,8
97

,16
9

    
   

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

12
3,4

93
,16

5
    

   
-

    
    

    
    

    
    

   
Be

ne
fit 

Pa
ym

en
ts

(2
70

,02
6,7

17
)

    
  

(2
59

,24
5,1

11
)

    
  

(2
42

,86
0,6

38
)

    
  

(2
27

,73
7,2

84
)

    
  

(2
13

,95
6,3

72
)

    
  

(1
98

,84
6,3

76
)

    
  

(1
86

,28
6,8

55
)

    
  

(1
75

,21
8,0

95
)

    
  

(1
65

,46
4,6

16
)

    
  

(1
57

,56
3,8

07
)

    
   

Re
fun

ds
(4

,03
3,1

61
)

    
    

  
(5

,07
5,8

51
)

    
    

  
(4

,26
6,7

59
)

    
    

  
(3

,65
6,4

02
)

    
    

  
(4

,26
5,1

74
)

    
    

  
(4

,14
0,9

09
)

    
    

  
(4

,04
5,3

24
)

    
    

  
(3

,91
0,7

86
)

    
    

  
(4

,05
2,4

36
)

    
    

  
(4

,15
4,4

19
)

    
    

   
Ne

t C
ha

ng
e i

n 
To

ta
l P

en
sio

n 
Li

ab
ilit

y
(2

66
,62

6,2
82

)
    

  
85

2,0
85

,38
3

    
   

33
0,8

28
,03

5
    

   
21

3,3
31

,10
4

    
   

49
8,3

23
,92

5
    

   
19

1,7
36

,83
4

    
   

20
6,4

46
,99

7
    

   
19

9,5
80

,19
0

    
   

29
7,7

40
,40

4
    

   
18

4,1
37

,96
2

    
    

To
ta

l P
en

sio
n 

Li
ab

ilit
y -

 B
eg

in
ni

ng
5,8

84
,12

8,5
84

    
5,0

32
,04

3,2
01

    
4,7

01
,21

5,1
66

    
4,4

87
,88

4,0
62

    
3,9

89
,56

0,1
37

    
3,7

97
,82

3,3
03

    
3,5

91
,37

6,3
06

    
3,3

91
,79

6,1
16

    
3,0

94
,05

5,7
12

    
2,9

09
,91

7,7
50

    
 

To
ta

l P
en

sio
n 

Li
ab

ilit
y -

 E
nd

in
g 

(a
)

5,6
17

,50
2,3

02
$  

5,8
84

,12
8,5

84
$  

5,0
32

,04
3,2

01
$  

4,7
01

,21
5,1

66
$  

4,4
87

,88
4,0

62
$  

3,9
89

,56
0,1

37
$  

3,7
97

,82
3,3

03
$  

3,5
91

,37
6,3

06
$  

3,3
91

,79
6,1

16
$  

3,0
94

,05
5,7

12
$  

 

Pl
an

 F
id

uc
iar

y N
et

 P
os

iti
on

Em
plo

ye
r C

on
trib

uti
on

s
16

3,8
39

,28
5

$  
   

14
6,6

18
,48

6
$  

   
14

1,2
18

,72
0

$  
   

13
0,7

42
,81

1
$  

   
12

3,6
09

,68
3

$  
   

11
6,4

85
,74

9
$  

   
11

0,8
46

,58
2

$  
   

10
4,2

72
,79

4
$  

   
10

0,4
84

,69
4

$  
   

93
,33

1,4
82

$  
    

  
Em

plo
ye

e C
on

trib
uti

on
s

80
,57

2,9
69

    
    

 
69

,18
9,0

12
    

    
 

66
,81

9,8
64

    
    

 
71

,46
9,7

02
    

    
 

63
,62

6,2
85

    
    

 
58

,71
3,3

27
    

    
 

56
,19

3,5
92

    
    

 
60

,80
1,2

53
    

    
 

54
,06

5,7
93

    
    

 
50

,48
9,0

91
    

    
  

Pe
ns

ion
 P

lan
 N

et 
Inv

es
tm

en
t In

co
me

35
7,1

13
,46

4
    

   
(5

50
,08

6,9
81

)
    

  
41

1,2
09

,61
1

    
   

30
7,2

89
,21

6
    

   
50

3,8
53

,50
5

    
   

(1
57

,24
2,1

03
)

    
  

37
6,8

20
,02

5
    

   
17

1,6
40

,01
5

    
   

(4
7,6

07
,66

1)
    

    
99

,70
4,1

00
    

    
  

Be
ne

fit 
Pa

ym
en

ts
(2

70
,02

6,7
17

)
    

  
(2

59
,24

5,1
11

)
    

  
(2

42
,86

0,6
38

)
    

  
(2

27
,73

7,2
84

)
    

  
(2

13
,95

6,3
72

)
    

  
(1

98
,84

6,3
76

)
    

  
(1

86
,28

6,8
55

)
    

  
(1

75
,21

8,0
96

)
    

  
(1

65
,46

4,6
16

)
    

  
(1

57
,56

3,8
07

)
    

   
Re

fun
ds

(4
,03

3,1
61

)
    

    
  

(5
,07

5,8
51

)
    

    
  

(4
,26

6,7
59

)
    

    
  

(3
,65

6,4
02

)
    

    
  

(4
,26

5,1
74

)
    

    
  

(4
,14

0,9
09

)
    

    
  

(4
,04

5,3
24

)
    

    
  

(3
,91

0,7
86

)
    

    
  

(4
,05

2,4
36

)
    

    
  

(4
,15

4,4
19

)
    

    
   

Pe
ns

ion
 P

lan
 A

dm
ini

str
ati

ve
 E

xp
en

se
(8

,54
9,2

85
)

    
    

  
(6

,76
3,6

38
)

    
    

  
(6

,52
8,4

99
)

    
    

  
(6

,59
4,5

36
)

    
    

  
(6

,21
8,2

88
)

    
    

  
(4

,02
4,3

67
)

    
    

  
(2

,77
8,2

90
)

    
    

  
(2

,70
0,9

16
)

    
    

  
(2

,42
1,3

31
)

    
    

  
(2

,63
1,2

18
)

    
    

   
Ot

he
r

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

96
2

    
    

    
    

    
 

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
  

-
    

    
    

    
    

    
   

Ne
t C

ha
ng

e i
n 

Pl
an

 F
id

uc
iar

y N
et

 P
os

iti
on

31
8,9

16
,55

5
    

   
(6

05
,36

4,0
83

)
    

  
36

5,5
93

,26
1

    
   

27
1,5

13
,50

7
    

   
46

6,6
49

,63
9

    
   

(1
89

,05
4,6

79
)

    
  

35
0,7

49
,73

0
    

   
15

4,8
84

,26
4

    
   

(6
4,9

95
,55

7)
    

    
79

,17
5,2

29
    

    
  

Pl
an

 F
id

uc
iar

y N
et

 P
os

iti
on

 - 
Be

gi
nn

in
g

2,9
59

,77
5,7

61
    

3,5
65

,13
9,8

44
    

3,1
99

,54
6,5

83
    

2,9
28

,03
3,0

76
    

2,4
61

,38
3,4

37
    

2,6
50

,43
8,1

16
    

2,2
99

,68
8,3

86
    

2,1
44

,80
4,1

22
    

2,2
09

,79
9,6

79
    

2,1
30

,62
4,4

50
    

 
Pl

an
 F

id
uc

iar
y N

et
 P

os
iti

on
 - 

En
di

ng
 (b

)
3,2

78
,69

2,3
16

$  
2,9

59
,77

5,7
61

$  
3,5

65
,13

9,8
44

$  
3,1

99
,54

6,5
83

$  
2,9

28
,03

3,0
76

$  
2,4

61
,38

3,4
37

$  
2,6

50
,43

8,1
16

$  
2,2

99
,68

8,3
86

$  
2,1

44
,80

4,1
22

$  
2,2

09
,79

9,6
79

$  
 

Ne
t P

en
sio

n 
Li

ab
ilit

y -
 E

nd
in

g 
(a

) -
 (b

)
2,3

38
,80

9,9
86

    
2,9

24
,35

2,8
23

    
1,4

66
,90

3,3
57

    
1,5

01
,66

8,5
83

    
1,5

59
,85

0,9
86

    
1,5

28
,17

6,7
00

    
1,1

47
,38

5,1
87

    
1,2

91
,68

7,9
20

    
1,2

46
,99

1,9
94

    
88

4,2
56

,03
3

    
    

Pl
an

 F
id

uc
iar

y N
et

 P
os

iti
on

 as
 a 

Pe
rc

en
ta

ge
of

 T
ot

al 
Pe

ns
io

n 
Li

ab
ilit

y
58

.37
%

50
.30

%
70

.85
%

68
.06

%
65

.24
%

61
.70

%
69

.79
%

64
.03

%
63

.24
%

71
.42

%
Co

ve
re

d 
Pa

yr
ol

l
86

2,3
12

,02
6

$  
   

77
1,6

76
,24

2
$  

   
74

3,2
56

,42
1

$  
   

72
6,3

48
,95

0
$  

   
68

6,7
20

,46
1

$  
   

64
7,1

43
,05

0
$  

   
61

5,8
14

,34
4

$  
   

57
9,2

93
,29

4
$  

   
55

8,2
48

,30
0

$  
   

51
8,5

08
,23

3
$  

    
Ne

t P
en

sio
n 

Li
ab

ilit
y a

s a
 P

er
ce

nt
ag

e
of

 C
ov

er
ed

 P
ay

ro
ll

27
1.2

3%
37

8.9
6%

19
7.3

6%
20

6.7
4%

22
7.1

4%
23

6.1
4%

18
6.3

2%
22

2.9
8%

22
3.3

8%
17

0.5
4%

No
te

s t
o 

Sc
he

du
le:

Se
e 

ac
co

m
pa

ny
ing

 In
de

pe
nd

en
t A

ud
ito

rs
' re

po
rt

 S
ch

ed
ul

e o
f C

ha
ng

es
 in

 th
e N

et
 P

en
sio

n 
Li

ab
ilit

y a
nd

 R
ela

te
d 

Ra
tio

s 

1) 
Co

ve
re

d p
ay

ro
ll i

s i
mp

ut
ed

 fr
om

 th
e a

ctu
al 

em
plo

ye
r c

on
tri

bu
tio

ns
 du

rin
g t

he
 ca

len
da

r y
ea

r. 
2) 

Sc
he

du
le 

wi
ll b

e b
uil

t o
ut

 to
 10

 ye
ar

s. 
3) 

Fo
r 2

01
4, 

th
er

e w
er

e n
o a

ssu
mp

tio
n c

ha
ng

es
. F

or
 20

15
, c

ha
ng

es
 in

 as
su

mp
tio

ns
 in

clu
de

d a
 de

cre
as

e i
n t

he
 in

ve
stm

en
t r

ate
 of

re
tu

rn
 to

 7.
5%

; in
fla

tio
n d

ec
re

as
e t

o 2
.75

%;
 ra

te
 of

 sa
lar

y i
nc

re
as

e r
an

ge
 

ch
an

ge
d t

o 4
.00

% 
-6

.25
%;

 re
tir

em
en

t a
ge

 ex
pe

rie
nc

e-b
as

ed
 ta

ble
 up

da
te

d; 
mo

rta
lity

 ch
an

ge
d t

o t
he

 RP
-20

14
 M

or
tal

ity
 Ta

ble
 w

ith
 Bl

ue
 Co

lla
r a

dju
stm

en
ts 

an
d g

en
er

ati
on

al 
mo

rta
lity

 im
pr

ov
em

en
ts.

 

N
ot

es
 to

 S
ch

ed
ul

e:
1.

 
C

ov
er

ed
 p

ay
ro

ll 
is

 im
pu

te
d 

fro
m

 th
e 

ac
tu

al
 e

m
pl

oy
er

 c
on

tri
bu

tio
ns

 d
ur

in
g 

th
e 

ca
le

nd
ar

 y
ea

r. 
2.

 
Ac

tu
ar

ia
l A

ss
um

pt
io

n 
H

is
to

ry
. F

or
 2

01
4,

 th
er

e 
w

er
e 

no
 a

ct
ua

ria
l a

ss
um

pt
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s.
 F

or
 2

01
5,

 c
ha

ng
es

 in
 a

ss
um

pt
io

ns
 in

cl
ud

ed
 a

 d
ec

re
as

e 
in

 th
e 

in
ve

st
m

en
t r

at
e 

of
 

re
tu

rn
 to

 7
.5

%
; i

nfl
at

io
n 

de
cr

ea
se

 to
 2

.7
5%

; r
at

e 
of

 s
al

ar
y 

in
cr

ea
se

 ra
ng

e 
ch

an
ge

d 
to

 4
.0

0%
 - 

6.
25

%
; r

et
ire

m
en

t a
ge

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
e-

ba
se

d 
ta

bl
e 

up
da

te
d;

 m
or

ta
lit

y 
ch

an
ge

d 
to

 th
e 

R
P-

20
14

 M
or

ta
lit

y 
Ta

bl
e 

w
ith

 B
lu

e 
C

ol
la

r a
dj

us
tm

en
ts

 a
nd

 g
en

er
at

io
na

l m
or

ta
lit

y 
im

pr
ov

em
en

ts
. F

or
 2

01
8,

 2
01

7 
an

d 
20

16
 th

er
e 

w
er

e 
no

 c
ha

ng
es

 in
 a

ss
um

pt
io

ns
. 

Fo
r 2

01
9,

 c
ha

ng
es

 in
 a

ss
um

pt
io

ns
 in

cl
ud

ed
 a

 d
ec

re
as

e 
in

 th
e 

in
ve

st
m

en
t r

et
ur

n 
to

 7
%

, a
 d

ec
re

as
e 

in
 in

fla
tio

n 
to

 2
.5

%
, t

he
 s

al
ar

y 
in

cr
ea

se
 ra

ng
e 

se
t a

t 3
.5

%
 - 

5.
75

%
, 

re
tir

em
en

t a
ge

 e
xp

er
ie

nc
e-

ba
se

d 
ta

bl
e 

up
da

te
d;

 a
nd

 a
 c

ha
ng

e 
in

 m
or

ta
lit

y 
ta

bl
es

 to
 th

e 
Pu

bG
-2

01
0 

H
ea

lth
y 

R
et

ire
e 

M
or

ta
lit

y 
Ta

bl
e 

w
ith

 fu
ll 

ge
ne

ra
tio

na
l p

ro
je

ct
io

n.
 F

or
 

20
20

, t
he

re
 w

er
e 

no
 a

ss
um

pt
io

n 
ch

an
ge

s.
 F

or
 2

02
1,

 in
ve

st
m

en
t r

et
ur

n 
w

as
 d

ec
re

as
ed

 to
 6

.7
5%

 w
hi

le
 k

ee
pi

ng
 th

e 
in

fla
tio

n 
as

su
m

pt
io

n 
at

 2
.5

%
. F

or
 2

02
2,

 th
e 

ac
tu

ar
ia

l 
as

su
m

pt
io

n 
of

 6
.7

5%
 re

m
ai

ne
d,

 h
ow

ev
er

, b
ec

au
se

 th
e 

pe
ns

io
n 

pl
an

’s
 fi

du
ci

ar
y 

ne
t p

os
iti

on
 w

as
 o

nl
y 

ex
pe

ct
ed

 to
 b

e 
av

ai
la

bl
e 

th
ro

ug
h 

20
57

, t
he

 a
ct

ua
ria

l a
ss

um
ed

 ra
te

 
of

 re
tu

rn
 w

as
 b

le
nd

ed
 w

ith
 th

e 
m

un
ic

ip
al

 b
on

d 
ra

te
 o

f 4
.0

5%
 to

 p
ro

du
ce

 a
 S

in
gl

e 
D

is
co

un
t R

at
e 

of
 5

.8
7%

. F
or

 2
02

3,
 th

e 
ac

tu
ar

ia
l a

ss
um

pt
io

n 
of

 6
.7

5%
 w

as
 a

pp
lie

d 
to

 a
ll 

pr
oj

ec
te

d 
be

ne
fit

 p
ay

m
en

ts
. 

Se
e 

ac
co

m
pa

ny
in

g 
In

de
pe

nd
en

t A
ud

ito
rs

' r
ep

or
t

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION DECEMBER 31, 2023 Page 67 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
58

FY Ending 
December 31

Actuarially 
Determined 
Contribution

Actual 
Contribution

Contribution 
Deficiency 
(Excess)

Covered 
Payroll

Actual Contribution as a 
% of Covered Payroll

2014 $ 94,627,753 $ 93,331,482 $ 1,296,271 $ 518,508,233 18.00%
2015 98,419,175 100,484,694 (2,065,519) 558,248,300 18.00%
2016 114,931,790 104,272,793 10,658,997 579,293,294 18.00%
2017 120,761,193 110,846,582 9,914,611 615,814,344 18.00%
2018 125,092,752 116,485,749 8,607,003 647,143,050 18.00%
2019 133,017,753 123,609,683 9,408,070 686,720,461 18.00%
2020 156,528,199 130,742,811 25,785,388 726,348,950 18.00%
2021 156,232,500 141,218,720 15,013,780 743,256,421 19.00%
2022 168,842,762 146,618,486 22,224,276 771,676,242 19.00%
2023 197,555,685 163,839,285 33,716,400 862,312,026 19.00%

Annual  
  Year Return *
2023 12.31%
2022 -15.63%
2021 13.01%
2020 10.65%
2019 20.70%
2018 -5.97%
2017 16.61%
2016 8.08%
2015 -2.19%
2014 4.75%

Schedule of Contributions

Schedule of Investment Returns

* Annual money-weighted rate of return is calculated as the internal rate of return on pension plan investments, net of investment expenses

REQUIRED SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION DECEMBER 31, 2023 (CONTINUED) 

See accompanying Independent Auditors' report

Page 68 of 121



City of Austin Employees' Retirement System 2023 Annual Comprehensive Financial Report 
59

2023 2023

Custodial & Transaction Fees Actuarial  $ 116,125              
The Bank of New York Mellon  $ 260,000         Legal 77,747                
Transaction and other fees 52,288           Audit 66,000                

312,288         Consultants 638,348              
Information Technology 210,751              

Investment Manager Fees 4,214,349      Administrative 5,970,934           
Depreciation 1,101,484           

Other Investment-related Expenses Insurance 173,236              
Consultant Fees - RVK 384,544         Member Communications 92,948                
Investment Research 94,475           Professional Development 101,712              
Reporting and Monitoring 34,875           Total  $ 8,549,285         

Investment Systems 184,990         
Investment Legal Counsel 30,713           

Staff Professional Development 18,585           
Due Diligence Site Visits 15,330           Actuarial
Other 25,037           GRS Retirement Consulting Group  $ 116,125            

788,549         
Legal

 Total $ 5,315,186      Clark Hill Strasburger 20,092              
Dubois, Bryant, & Campbell 2,661                
Jackson Walker 28,578              
The Knight Law Firm 26,416              

77,747              

Audit
CLA LLP 66,000              

Consultants
Levi, Ray & Shoup 133,344            
Express Information Systems 14,958              
Freeit Data Solutions 44,989              
Gartner 100,283            
Hillco Partners LLC 84,000              
Kudelski Security 73,314              
Ntirety 71,145              
Security Pursuit 17,000              
Whitehat Virtual Technologies 99,315              

             638,348 

Total  $              898,220 

Investment Expenses General & Administrative Expenses

Professional Services and Consultant 
Expenses

Note:  Investment Manager Fees are presented on an accrual basis 
and do not include fees directly charged against commingled funds. 

For more information, please refer to the Investment Section.

See accompanying Independent Auditors' report

OTHER SUPPLEMENTARY INFORMATION DECEMBER 31, 2023 Page 69 of 121



6. Discuss and consider Travel
Reimbursement Policy
Presented by Michael Benson



 

 

COMMITTEE MEETING  
Agenda Item Information Sheet 

 

 
AGENDA ITEM 6: 

Discuss and consider Board Approved Travel Reimbursement Policy 
 
AGENDA ITEM OBJECTIVE 
This agenda item is intended for the Committee to conduct its annual review of the 
Travel Reimbursement Policy. 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION FOR BOARD ACTION 
Staff recommends the Committee refer to the Board for approval the proposed revisions 
to the Travel Reimbursement Policy.  
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY 
The Travel Reimbursement Policy was created in 2017 when the prior “Training, 
Research, and Education Expense Policies” were changed to carve out the educational 
and investment site visit components into separate policies. The Travel Reimbursement 
Policy is reviewed periodically to ensure it is up to date with current IRS regulations as 
well as changes to the ways COAERS Trustees and Staff travel. Staff has reviewed the 
Policy and will discuss with the Committee a group of proposed revisions.   
 
 
RELEVANCE TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
This agenda item meets COAERS Strategic Plan Goal 4: Identify and implement 
leading practices in board governance, pension administration, and investment 
management. It is an industry best practice to review policies on a regular basis. 
 
 
 
ATTACHMENT 

1. Proposed Travel Reimbursement Policy 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 71 of 121



 
 

 

Board Approved Policy 
 

Subject: Travel Reimbursement 

Review Committee: Audit and Risk 

Date Implemented: December 12, 2017 

Date Updated: June 27, 2024 

Signature of Chairperson: 

 

 
 

Yuejiao Liu 

 
 

Page 72 of 121



Travel Reimbursement Policy  
Approved September 21, 2021June 27, 2024 
 

Page 1 of 7 

 

 

CITY OF AUSTIN EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM 
BOARD APPROVED POLICY 

TRAVEL REIMBURSEMENT POLICY 
 
 
I. PURPOSE AND SCOPE 
 
To support the ability of the Board of Trustees and Staff of the City of Austin Employees’ 
Retirement System (COAERS) to carry out their responsibilities, participation in topically 
relevant seminars and educational programs is encouraged and the costs of these 
events and related travel may be paid or reimbursed by COAERS. 
 
Travel may also be authorized for onsite research and evaluation of professional firms 
or organizations and also for site visits conducted for due diligence or investigative 
purposes. (See also Board Education Policy) This policy describes the eligibility for, and 
the conditions under which, COAERS will pay or reimburse travel expenses. The 
provisions of this policy are intended to create an accountable plan under the Internal 
Revenue Code and Treasury Regulations and therefore, allowances or reimbursements 
paid for COAERS-related expenses are excluded from wages and are not subject to 
withholding for federal tax purposes. 
 
II. RESPONSIBILITIES 
 

A. COAERS Board of Trustees: 
Shall determine the quantity and type of education and travel available to a 
Trustee. Shall assign responsibility to the Audit and Risk Committee to review 
this policy and oversee its implementation. 
 

B. Board Chair: 
Shall be authorized to make exceptions to this policy. Shall review and 
authorize travel expenses for the Executive Director. 
 

C. Audit and Risk Committee: 
Shall periodically review and update this policy as necessaryat least every 
three years. 
 

D. Authorized Travelers: 
Shall be mindful of the public trust and comply with the provisions of this policy 
when incurring training, research, or education expenses on behalf of 
COAERS. Shall strive to make arrangements resulting in reasonable expense 
to the System. 
 

E. Executive Director: 
 Shall approve or deny all proposed training, research, or educational 

expenses for COAERS staff. 
 Shall work with Trustees in determining appropriate expenses and report on 

Page 73 of 121



Travel Reimbursement Policy  
Approved September 21, 2021June 27, 2024 
 

Page 2 of 7 

 

 

travel and training budget expenditures at least annually.  
 Refer proposed policy changes to the Audit and Risk Committee. 

III. GUIDELINES 
A. Authorized Traveler: 

A person who is authorized to travel in connection with COAERS-related 
business or an event. 
 

B. Authorized Travel Days 
Travel will generally be arranged on the days immediately preceding and 
immediately after the conference or “scheduled event”, unless savings can 
be achieved by incurring a Saturday stay-over or if the travel can be 
reasonably accomplished on the day the event begins or ends. A “Scheduled 
event” means anything that is part of the published program; a related 
activity, or held in conjunction with a conference or scheduled meeting, 
supported by written documentation.  All itineraries should be coordinated so 
that the most economical package can be obtained considering cost and 
time. The number of days of approved lodging will be sufficient so as not to 
require conference or meeting attendance and travel time in excess of 12 
hours in any one day, and reasonable considering time zone differences.  
One additional day of travel with lodging and per diem is allowed for each 
day of travel in excess of 12 hours. 

 
C. Authorized Expenses 

1. COAERS pays and reimburses for expenses which meet the following 
requirements: 

a. There must be a business connection to the expenditure. 
b. There must be “adequate” accounting by the recipient within 30 

calendar days of conclusion of the event including verification 
of business purpose, date, time, place, amount and receipts for 
any item for which reimbursement is requested except for per 
diem paid at the Federal rate. 

c. Excess reimbursements or advances must be returned within 
30 calendar days of the accounting of the authorized expenses 
or notification to the traveler of the excess whichever is later. 

 
2. Subject to the guidelines listed below in Section E, COAERS will pay or 

reimburse for the following expenses: 
a. Conference or seminar registration 
b. Transportation 
c. Lodging expenses, including parking 
d. On-site airport parking 
e. Shuttle, taxi, or rideshare 
f. Rental car, including associated expenses 
g. Personal vehicle mileage reimbursement for driving to and 

from the airport 

Page 74 of 121



Travel Reimbursement Policy  
Approved September 21, 2021June 27, 2024 
 

Page 3 of 7 

 

 

h. Meals & incidental expenses (M&IE) 
i. Telecommunication charges 
j. Books and supplies 
k. Laundry/dry cleaning if the trip exceeds five continuous days or 

during international travel out of North America 
l. Flight or trip insurance 
m. Registration costs for State core minimum education training 

for approved candidates running for Trustee positions 
n. Shipping costs incurred for materials shipped to or from an 

approved conference 
o. Airline change fees incurred when the business travel scope or 

event schedule changes. 
p. TSA pre-check or Global Entry expenses. 

 
D. Unauthorized/Non-Reimbursable Expenses 

1. Expenses for non-authorized travelers 
2. Loss of personal funds or property 
3. Personal expenses such as haircuts, medicine, newspapers, etc. 
4. Entertainment and/or alcoholic beverages 
5. Shuttle and/or taxi to personal destinations 

 
E. Additional Guidelines for Authorized Expenses 

1. Transportation 

a. The most economical method of transportation should be used 
considering overall costs and time. Transportation provided to a 
System Representative must meet the requirements of Board 
Approved Policy C-3 “Code of Ethics.” Advanced purchase economy 
airfare should be made as far in advance as possible to achieve the 
most reasonable fare. Non-stop flights and/or direct flights should be 
scheduled when available. Whenever possible, airfare will be paid in 
advance by COAERS. Otherwise, payment should be made using a 
COAERS credit card. If no COAERS credit card is available, travelers 
may use personal credit cards or funds, and submit receipts for 
reimbursement. For any flights of 5 or more hours of continuous in-air 
travel, business class airfare should be allowed or one additional 
travel day with lodging and per diem can be provided. COAERS can 
incur an airfare cost to allow for main cabin upgrades when business 
class travel is not authorized, such as the following:  to confirm an 
economy seat assignment, allow for early boarding, hold a price on a 
ticket when travel arrangements are not finalized, provide extra leg 
room, and allow for assigned seating, or checked baggage. 

 
b. Trustee mileage for a personal vehicle will be reimbursed at the 

prevailing IRS mileage reimbursement rate for travel to and from the 
airport or travel to an educational or research event.  Miles driven for 
personal reasons will not be reimbursed. Individuals may declare a 

Page 75 of 121



Travel Reimbursement Policy  
Approved September 21, 2021June 27, 2024 
 

Page 4 of 7 

 

 

reasonable number of miles in order to obtain payment in advance of 
travel. Mileage can be calculated either by noting the actual beginning 
and ending mileage of the trip, or by using a mapping application that 
describes the actual route. Highway toll charges are reimbursable if 
necessary to attend a COAERS-business related event or to ensure 
on-time arrival at the airport for COAERS-business related travel. 

 
c. Shuttles, taxis, public transportation, ride-sharing, private charter bus 

or rental vehicles may be used for travel to and from the airport and a 
conference or meeting destination(s). Authorized travelers should 
select the most economical method based on available methods and 
circumstances. Persons travelling in groups should coordinate these 
expenses if feasible. 

 
2. Lodging 

Lodging associated with a conference should be arranged at the hotel in 
which the conference or seminar is held, if applicable. Otherwise,  
accommodations should be arranged at a rate comparable to that of the 
conference designated hotel. 

 
a. Authorized Hotel Expenses are room, tax, destination (or similar) fee, 

internet connectivity, business center expenses, and hotel parking. 
 

b. Hotel services, movies, and non-COAERS phone calls are examples 
of personal expenses, which are not reimbursable. The authorized 
traveler must mark personal expenses on bill, invoice, or receipt 
before submission. 

 
c. COAERS will reimburse up to the costs of a double occupancy room 

rate. If a traveler makes their own lodging arrangements, 
reimbursement will be based on the comparable rate to the other 
travelers whose arrangements were made by COAERS. 

 

3. Considering costs and logistics, hotel deposits and/or full expenses 
may be paid in advance by COAERS. Otherwise, payment should be 
made using a COAERS credit card. If no COAERS credit card is 
available, travelers may use personal credit cards or funds, and 
submit receipts for reimbursement. Per Diem Allowance for Meals & 
Incidental Expenses (M&IE) 

 
For COAERS-related travel that requires an overnight stay, the Federal 
per diem rate will be paid for meals and incidental expenses (M&IE). No 
receipts are required, but the payment must meet the other substantiation 
requirements including date, time, place, and business purpose. Meals 
provided to a System Representative must meet the requirements of 

Page 76 of 121



Travel Reimbursement Policy  
Approved September 21, 2021June 27, 2024 
 

Page 5 of 7 

 

 

Board Approved Policy C-3 “Code of Ethics.” 
 

a. Federal per diem rate: These rates are established by the General 
Services Administration (GSA) and the U.S. Department of State. An 
amount is assigned to respective cities which includes allowances for 
breakfast, lunch and dinner plus incidental expenses to cover the cost 
of tips and fees for food and luggage handling type services. 

 
1. The per diem will be the current rate published for the destination 

locality at the time of the advance or reimbursement whichever 
occurs first. 

 
2. For both the day travel begins and the day travel ends, the M&IE 

per diem allowance will be prorated at 75% of the daily rate. 
 

3. For purposes of figuring the appropriate location per diem, 
COAERS will use the rate of where the traveler will spend the night. 
If the traveler is in the air overnight (for example, leaving Chicago in 
the evening and arriving in Edinburgh early morning), the 
destination is used as the location the traveler spent the night. On 
the last day of travel, COAERS will use the rate where the traveler 
previously spent the night. 

 
4. If a meal or meals are part of a registration fee, those meals will be 

deducted from the per diem of the traveler. If a hotel offers a 
continental breakfast as part of its published price, the meal will be 
deducted from the per diem of the traveler. 

 
5. Expenses incurred due to travel delays beyond the traveler’s 

control which extend the travel period are reimbursable. 
 

b. Any matters related to per diem not specifically addressed in this policy 
will be administered in accordance with the IRS guidance for 
accountable plans. 

 
4. Day Trips – Reimbursement for mileage and business-related meals 

For trips not requiring an overnight stay, authorized travelers will be 
reimbursed for reasonable transportation and COAERS-related expenses 
submitted with receipts on COAERS Travel Request Claim Form. 

 
5. Pre-trip Advances 

Authorized travelers may receive an advance of per diem and mileage 
reimbursement, if requested. 

 

F. Emergency Expenditures and Exceptions 
For emergency situations requiring immediate departure from Austin to 

Page 77 of 121



Travel Reimbursement Policy  
Approved September 21, 2021June 27, 2024 
 

Page 6 of 7 

 

 

attend to COAERS business, or in the event of a personal emergency which 
requires early departure or, other change in plans, every effort should be 
made to contact the Board Chairperson or Vice Chairperson to authorize the 
emergency expenditures. If this authorization is not obtained, the 
circumstances will be reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee at their next 
meeting to recommend an appropriate Board response. 

 
Any exceptions to these procedures may be reviewed and approved by the 
Audit and Risk Committee, in advance.  Emergency exceptions shall be 
addressed on their own merits. 

 
G. Final Travel Expense Claim Form 

1. Travel Expense Claim Submittals and Documentation 
Within 30 calendar days of their return, individuals shall complete and 
submit the “Travel Expense Claim Form”. All authorized expenses, 
including those prepaid by COAERS, and regardless of method of 
payment, should be recorded on the Travel Expense Claim form. 
Receipts or a statement of expense incurred are required for authorized 
expenses, including ground transportation and parking. No receipts are 
required for expenses covered by the Per Diem Allowance, including 
meals. If receipts include both personal expenses and authorized 
expenses, they should be itemized and personal expenses should be 
marked “personal.” A final travel package will have a completed and 
signed Trustee Education Program Feedback Form attached. 

 
2. Trustee Education Program Feedback Form 

When travel is for education or training, trustees are encouraged to 
complete a Trustee Education Program Feedback Form and submit it to 
the Executive Assistant. A copy of this form will be posted on the Board 
Portal. 

 
3. Review of Expense Claim Forms 

The Audit and Risk Committee may review any situations when a Travel 
Expense Claim Form is not submitted within 30 calendar days, or where 
exceptions to this policy are noted. In addition, the Audit and Risk 
Committee may periodically review sample Travel Expense Claim Forms. 

 
H. Direct Booking/Travel Agencies 

To avoid transaction fees charged by travel agencies, 
transportation/accommodation arrangements will generally be booked 
directly with the provider. In the case of complex arrangements, i.e., 
involving multiple cities or international travel, or short notice travel, travel 
agencies may be used. Agencies will be selected on the basis of service 
quality, being mindful of fiduciary responsibilities regarding expenditures. 
 

I. Non Exempt Staff Travelers 

Page 78 of 121



Travel Reimbursement Policy  
Approved September 21, 2021June 27, 2024 
 

Page 7 of 7 

 

 

Travel that keeps a nonexempt COAERS employee traveler away from 
home overnight is worktime when it cuts across the employee's workday. 
The employee is simply substituting travel for other duties. The time is not 
only hours worked on regular working days during normal working hours but 
also during the corresponding hours on nonworking days. Thus, if an 
employee regularly works from 8 a.m. to 5 p.m. from Monday through Friday 
the travel time during these hours is worktime on Saturday and Sunday as 
well as on the other weekdays. Regular meal period time is not worktime.  
When connected with an overnight stay, travel from the employee’s home or 
primary work location to the event or to the airport is worktime.  Likewise, 
travel home from the event or the airport is worktime. 
 
 

IV. ADMINISTRATION 
 

All forms used for the administration of this policy may be created and revised by  
Staff. 

 

Page 79 of 121



7. Receive report on COAERS Enterprise
Risk Management program including the
following:
7A: Risk categories of personnel,
physical, and legislative
7B: Cybersecurity risk category and
information security program



7A: Risk categories of personnel,
physical, and legislative
Presented by Christopher Hanson



 

 

COMMITTEE MEETING  
Agenda Item Information Sheet 

 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM 7: 
Receive report on COAERS Enterprise Risk Management program including  the 

following: 
 

A. personnel, physical, and legislative 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM OBJECTIVE 
This agenda item is for discussion of three of the risk categories in the Enterprise Risk 
Management Report.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION FOR COMMITTEE ACTION 
For informational purposes; no action required. 
 
 
ITEM SUMMARY 
The 2024 Enterprise Risk Management Report contains 12 risk categories. This 
meeting’s focus will be the categories of personnel, physical, and legislative. Staff has 
provided a summary report of the presentation and the full Risk Management Report 
with all risk categories is provided in the Supplemental Materials.  
 
 
RELEVANCE TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
This agenda item meets COAERS Strategic Plan Goal 2: Responsibly manage the 

risks of the System. The Committee’s regular review of COAERS Enterprise Risk 

Management System is one of the strategic objectives of Goal 2 and a key performance 

indicator is the successful implementation of all annual risk management activities.  

 
ATTACHMENTS 

1. Staff Report on Personnel, Physical, and Legislative Risks 
2. Staff Presentation on Personnel, Physical, and Legislative Risks 

 
 

SUPPLEMENTAL MATERIALS 
1. Second Quarter Enterprise Risk Management Report 2024  

 
 

Page 82 of 121



 
 

2024 Second Quarter Risk Management Report 
Personnel, Physical, and Legislative Risks 

 
RISK CATEGORY: Personnel (Second Quartile) 

Review of Recent Risk Management Activities 

In 2023, the Member Services division was restructured to provide career pathways for employees, 

ensure adequate staffing and backup support across the range of customer-focused services, and expand 

job activities for employees on the team. Additionally, each division in COAERS worked with executive 

management to project their near and mid-term staffing needs. With the acquisition of 4700 Mueller 

providing more space for additional staff, the Board approved seven new FTEs across the Member 

Services, Finance, Investment, and Information Technology divisions. The additional staffing will allow 

COAERS to expand the reach of its customer service, educational activities, and City department 

presentations, as well as add investment analysis and back-office support for the growing private 

markets program and ensure the IT division is appropriately staffed to manage effectively manage the 

COAERS information security program and the increase in staff.   

2024 Risk Management Activities 

1. Beginning in 2024, management introduced an expanded onboarding program for new staff, 

including enhanced cybersecurity training, review of the COAERS strategic plan, culture 

statement, and risk management program, as well as all-staff events to introduce the new 

employees  to the COAERS team. This onboarding is designed to quickly acclimate new 

employees to key organizational initiatives, the staff culture, and introduce them  to the existing 

teams and the functions they serve at COAERS.  

2. Management is currently developing a culture statement lunch and learn where the entire staff 

will discuss the existing culture statement, as well as review staff feedback and seek suggestions 

on areas where COAERS can improve to ensure better alignment with the expected culture.  

3. Professional development is an integral part of COAERS and is part of the COAERS culture 

statement “Continue to Develop: We continually learn and develop our skills. We seek to 

improve ourselves, challenge prevailing assumptions, and suggest better approaches.” COAERS 

has budgeted funds dedicated to staff professional development and all staff are required to 

have professional development plans as part of their annual evaluation process. Managers work 

with each staff member to identify professional development opportunities, and the budget is 

allocated to ensure that each staff member can attend and participate in their selected 

educational event(s). To date, staff have attended or are registered to attend events such as the 

Public Retirement Information Systems Management (PRISM) Annual Conference, CEM 

Benchmarking Pension Administration Conference, NCPERS Chief Officers Summit, National 

Association of State Retirement Administrators summer conference, and the Institutional 

Investor Annual Conference. Other professional development pursued by COAERS staff include 

the University of Texas Center for Professional Education “Transitioning from Employee to 

Manager” and CLE for “401(k) and 403(b) Plan Litigation”.  

Page 83 of 121



 
 

4. Executive management is working with each division to assess its current and future staffing 

needs. Discussions include preparing for possible retirements of long-tenured employees and 

ensuring the appropriate transfer of key institutional knowledge, as well as the potential to 

utilize new technologies to assist in managing workloads. The needs of one division are often 

separate from those of another; however, some mission-critical functions touch multiple 

divisions and require coordinated efforts when looking at future staffing needs. For instance, as 

the City’s workforce continues to age and more Group A members retire, both the Member 

Services and Finance divisions need to consider the impact of the growing number of retirees on 

their workloads and staff needs.   

 

RISK CATEGORY: Physical (Third Quartile) 

Review of Recent Risk Management Activities 

In February 2023, COAERS completed its purchase of 4700 Mueller. The new property serves as COAERS’ 

headquarters and provides sufficient space for the organization now and for many years to come. All 

staff relocated from the old COAERS offices at Northpoint Center to 4700 Mueller in March 2024 and 

COAERS opened its doors to its members and the public on April 1, 2024.  

2024 Risk Management Activities 

1. COAERS management meets regularly to discuss key issues related to the ownership of 4700 

Mueller, including a review of the monthly expense reports provided by the property manager. 

Additionally, the management team is working with the Mueller Property Owners Association 

(POA) to assist with their request for proposal for a property manager for the Mueller POA, assist 

with the drafting of a reserve investment policy, and serving as a commercial property owner 

representative on both the Transition and Budget Committees, as well as participating in Mueller 

community meetings about the transition of managing the Mueller District from the Catellus 

Development Corporation to the Mueller POA.  

2. COAERS executive management is currently reviewing a list of vendors in property management, 

building security, and improved cellular connectivity at the building, as well as developing an 

onboarding process for any new vendors at 4700 Mueller.  

3. After moving COAERS daily operations to 4700 Mueller in March, COAERS management has been 

updating policies and guidelines related to workplace safety and violence prevention. The 

Workplace Safety Policy has been updated to reflect new evacuation and safety plans, as well as 

conducting staff training on the new plans. COAERS has already completed the onsite  safety 

inspections by the Austin Fire and Austin Police Departments, as well as a request for additional 

trespass patrol by the Austin Police Department’s Central West District, which covers the Mueller 

District. COAERS has also established direct contact with a commanding officer at the Central 

West District of the Austin Police Department. Staff is currently conducting premises liability 

walk throughs with representatives from COAERS property insurance company (Zurich) and 

evaluating the cost and efficacy of safety window film for interior glass and some exterior glass 

at 4700 Mueller. Lastly, COAERS is working with the tenants to conduct a building-wide 

Page 84 of 121



 
evacuation plan and fire drill, as well as getting the tenants to utilize the panic push button 

application that COAERS staff have been using for several years.  

 

RISK CATEGORY: Legislative (Third Quartile)  

Review of Recent Risk Management Activities 

In 2023, COAERS, working with its governmental relations consultant and the City of Austin, achieved 

passage of the pension legislation, SB 1444. Additionally, several other bills filed related to ESG investing 

and maintaining the Board’s control over the investment program failed to pass.  

2024 Risk Management Activities 

1. COAERS is monitoring all public pension-related activity at both the state and federal level. 

Currently, both the House and Senate have released their interim charges and included in both 

are reviews of ESG investing and its impact on fiduciary duty. The COAERS Legislative Committee 

will receive an update on this issue at its June Committee meeting. On the national level, the 

most significant legislative item is potential removal of Chinese companies from U.S. stock 

indices. The bill has been filed with bipartisan support, but currently has not been scheduled for 

a hearing in the House of Representatives. Staff anticipated this potential action and has already 

requested and received confirmation that its investments in emerging market indices have been 

separated into China and Ex-China structures. This will allow for an easier path to divestment if 

such action becomes legally required. Staff will continue to monitor these issues and report to 

the Board and appropriate Committees if legislation begins to move towards passage.  

2. Staff and consultant continue to keep open communication with key stakeholders at the state 

level as well as leveraging relationships with both the NCPERS and NASRA organizations for 

communication with key stakeholders at the federal level. Furthermore, Staff regularly 

participate in meetings with their peers at other public retirement systems across the state and 

country to stay abreast of these key issues and work collaboratively where necessary to educate 

and inform stakeholders and lawmakers of issues and concerns related to legislation that could 

impact systems such as COAERS. 

 

Page 85 of 121



Risk Management Report: Personnel, 
Physical, and Legislative Risks

Audit and Risk Committee

June 13, 2024

1

Page 86 of 121



2
2

2024 Enterprise Risk Management Report: Quarterly Review

Page 87 of 121



Personnel Risks
Second Quartile Risk

3

Page 88 of 121



4
4

Page 89 of 121



5
5

Personnel Risk Management

Every staff member works with their supervisor to develop an annual 

professional development plan. Board-approved budgeted funds 

support each staff member’s plan to ensure each employee can attend 

and participate in their professional development activities. 

COAERS Workplace Strategy and Guidelines serve to provide clear 

policy around hybrid work and ensuring COAERS maintains the 

appropriate procedures in place to manage employee health and 

well-being risks such as the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Page 90 of 121



6
6

Personnel Risk Management

The workplace continues to transform - from office to 

remote and to hybrid to …

• “Workforce Strategy and Guidelines” - Updated as 

events change

• Constant updates from management about strategy

• Providing tools needed to be productive no matter 

location

• Promote productivity and controls, but allow flexibility 

where appropriate

• Culture promotes “Work Smarter” and “Be Adaptable”

• Promote the value of the work we perform for our 

members and beneficiaries

Page 91 of 121



Physical Risks
Third Quartile Risk

7

Page 92 of 121



8
8

4700 Mueller

Page 93 of 121



9
9

Physical Risk Management

Designated Safe Rooms 

Designated Meeting Locations

COAERS 

Workplace Safety 

Procedures 

Page 94 of 121



10
10

Physical Risk Management

Staff Mobile Safety AppSafety and Exit Maps for Staff 

Training

Page 95 of 121



Legislative Risks

11

Third Quartile Risk

Page 96 of 121



12
12

Page 97 of 121



13
13

Legislative Risk Management

The Board partners with a 

governmental relations 

consultant to help provide 

expertise and guidance in 

managing the Texas 

political landscape. 

Local and national policy 

groups regularly target public 

defined benefit systems for 

adverse policy including 

closing those systems in favor 

of defined contribution plans. 

COAERS works with the City to 

ensure we are on the same page 

on any pension-related matters 

that arise at the State Capitol. 

Page 98 of 121



14
14

Legislative Risk Management

Senate and House Interim Charges

Recent Federal Legislation

Page 99 of 121



7B: Cybersecurity risk category and
information security program
Convene into Executive Session pursuant to
Section 551.071, Texas Government Code,
Section 1.05, Texas Disciplinary Rules of
Professional Conduct, and Section 551.089,
Texas Government Code, to consult with
legal counsel and deliberate security
assessments or deployments relating to
information resources technology, network
security information described in Section
2059.055, Texas Government Code, and
deployment and implementation of security
personnel, critical infrastructure, and security
devices
Presented by Amy Kelley



 

 

COMMITTEE MEETING  
Agenda Item Information Sheet 

 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM 7: 
Receive report on COAERS Enterprise Risk Management program including  the 

following: 
 

B. Cybersecurity risk category and information security program – Amy Kelley 
1. Convene into Executive Session pursuant to Section 551.071, Texas Government 

Code, Section 1.05, Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct, and 
Section 551.089, Texas Government Code, to consult with legal counsel and 
deliberate security assessments or deployments relating to information resources 
technology, network security information described in Section 2059.055, Texas 
Government Code, and deployment and implementation of security personnel, 
critical infrastructure, and security devices  

2. Reconvene into open session to take action as determined appropriate regarding 
security assessments or deployments relating to information resources 
technology, network security information described in Section 2059.055, Texas 
Government Code, and deployment and implementation of security personnel, 
critical infrastructure, and security devices 

 
 
 
RECOMMENDATION FOR COMMITTEE ACTION 
For informational purposes; no action required. 
 
 
 
RELEVANCE TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
This agenda item meets COAERS Strategic Plan Goal 2: Responsibly manage the 

risks of the System. The Committee’s regular review of COAERS Enterprise Risk 

Management System is one of the strategic objectives of Goal 2 and a key performance 

indicator is the successful implementation of all annual risk management activities.  

 
 
 

Page 101 of 121



Reconvene into open session to take
action as determined appropriate
regarding security assessments or
deployments relating to information
resources technology, network security
information described in Section
2059.055, Texas Government Code, and
deployment and implementation of
security personnel, critical infrastructure,
and security devices



8. Receive report on the first quarter 2024
unaudited financial statements
Presented by Yun Quintanilla



 

 

COMMITTEE MEETING  
Agenda Item Information Sheet 

 

  
AGENDA ITEM 8: 

Receive report on the first quarter 2024 unaudited financial statements 
 
AGENDA ITEM OBJECTIVE 
This item presents the unaudited March 31, 2024 financial statements which show the 
net position of the fund and related financial details.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION FOR COMMITTEE ACTION 
For informational purposes only; no action required. 
 
 
RELEVANCE TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
This agenda item meets COAERS Strategic Plan Goal 2: Responsibly manage the 

risks of the System. 

 
ATTACHMENT 

1. COAERS unaudited financial statements for the period ending March 31, 2024, 
including the Statement of Fiduciary Net Position and the Statement of Changes 
in Fiduciary Net Position 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 116 of 121



Variance
Favorable

3/31/2024 3/31/2023 (Unfavorable)

Assets
Cash - operating account 18,650,081$             17,715,698$             934,383$                   

Receivables 101,463 79,539 21,924
Total cash and receivables 18,751,544 17,795,237 956,307

Investments, at fair value:
US equities 1,219,084,067 1,044,705,233 174,378,834
DM Equities 536,882,833 481,281,104 55,601,729
EM Equities 220,195,188 202,093,159 18,102,029
Fixed income 567,806,156 581,489,402 (13,683,246)
Real assets 440,895,832 470,475,392 (29,579,560)
Multi-asset 140,241,748 154,506,270 (14,264,522)
Cash and cash equivalents 231,721,845 103,248,131 128,473,714

Total investments 3,356,827,669 3,037,798,691 319,028,978

Capital assets, net of depreciation 32,232,160 32,089,454 142,706
Total assets 3,407,811,373 3,087,683,382 320,127,991

Liabilities
Payables:

Accrued expenses 352,999 430,032 77,033
Payables and deposits - Mueller 393,563 1,629,682 1,236,119
Refunds and death benefits payable 4,131,667 3,616,442 (515,225)

Total liabilities 4,878,229 5,676,156 797,927

Net position restricted for pensions 3,402,933,144$       3,082,007,226$       320,925,918$          

CITY OF AUSTIN EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
Statement of Fiduciary Net Position

March 31, 2024

Unaudited

Page 117 of 121



Variance
Favorable

3/31/2024 3/31/2023 (Unfavorable)
Additions:
Contributions:

Employer contributions 45,218,522$                36,380,548$                8,837,974$                  
Employee contributions 19,256,423                  15,203,886                  4,052,537                    
Creditable service purchases 287,737                        1,729,694                    (1,441,957)                   
    Total contributions 64,762,682                  53,314,128                  11,448,554                  

Investment Income:
Realized gain/(loss) on investments 22,874,493                  (4,657,070)                   27,531,563                  
Unrealized gain/(loss) on investments 99,464,381                  132,259,358                (32,794,977)                 

Net investment appreciation (depreciation)
  in fair value of investments 122,338,874                127,602,288                (5,263,414)                   

Dividends 6,418,488                    6,926,263                    (507,775)                      
Interest 6,649,030                    4,626,851                    2,022,179                    

Investment appreciation (depreciation)
before expenses 135,406,392                139,155,402                (3,749,010)                   

Investment expenses:
Investment manager fees 1,066,646                    1,095,524                    28,878                          
Custodial fees 65,000                          65,000                          -                                
Commissions & other fees 14,671                          21,346                          6,675                            
Investment consultant fees 76,246                          74,026                          (2,220)                           
Investment legal counsel 18,520                          256                               (18,264)                         
Staff continuing education & site visits 3,949                            2,155                            (1,794)                           
Investment staff resources 152,986                        72,900                          (80,086)                         

Total investment expenses 1,398,018                    1,331,207                    (66,811)                         

Net Investment appreciation (depreciation) 134,008,374                137,824,195                (3,815,821)                   

DDA interest Income 265,205                        153,569                        111,636                        
Rent Income - Mueller 491,805                        72,236                          419,569                        

Total additions (deductions) 199,528,066                191,364,128                8,163,938                    

Deductions:
Retirement annuities 67,992,035                  64,254,708                  (3,737,327)                   
Contributions refunded to terminating employees 1,211,824                    490,177                        (721,647)                      
DROP disbursements 1,514,748                    676,182                        (838,566)                      
Retiree lump-sum annuity 1,167,490                    960,973                        (206,517)                      
Death benefits 1,102,816                    879,471                        (223,345)                      

Total benefit payments, including
 refunds of member contributions 72,988,913                  67,261,511                  (5,727,402)                   

General and administrative expenses 1,950,346                    1,754,899                    (195,447)                      
Expenses - Mueller 367,979                        136,253                        (231,726)                      

Total deductions 75,307,238                  69,152,663                  (6,154,575)                   

Net increase/(decrease) in net position 124,220,828                122,211,465                2,009,363                    
Net position restricted for pensions: 

Beginning of year 3,278,712,316             2,959,795,761             318,916,555                
End of period 3,402,933,144$          3,082,007,226$          320,925,918$             

CITY OF AUSTIN EMPLOYEES' RETIREMENT SYSTEM
Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Position
For the Three Months Ending March 31, 2024

Unaudited

Page 118 of 121



9. Review key meeting takeaways and
call for future agenda items
Presented by Michael Benson



 

 

COMMITTEE MEETING  
Agenda Item Information Sheet 

 

  
 

AGENDA ITEM 9: 
Review key meeting takeaways and call for future agenda items 

 
 
AGENDA ITEM OBJECTIVE 
This standing agenda item provides Trustees the opportunity to review the key 
takeaways from the meeting.  
 
 
RECOMMENDATION FOR COMMITTEE ACTION 
Trustees will review key meeting takeaways and delineate next steps. 
 
 
RELEVANCE TO STRATEGIC PLAN 
This agenda item meets COAERS Strategic Plan Goal 4: Identify and implement 
leading practices in board governance, pension administration, and investment 
management. It is an industry best practice to review key meeting takeaways to 
summarize what was accomplished at the meeting as well as ensure Staff has clear 
direction on further work and future agenda items.   
 
 
 
 

Page 120 of 121



 

 

Audit and Risk Committee 
2024 Work Plan 

 

Audit and Risk Committee 
June 13, 2024 

 

2024 Audit and Risk Committee Work Plan 
 
 
Scheduled Quarterly Meetings 
 
1. March meeting  

✓ Required Communications for 12/31/2023 Financial Statement Audit 

✓ Quarterly review of Enterprise Risk Management Program 

✓ Quarterly Financial Statements 

✓ Fraud, Waste, and Abuse Policy 

 
2. June meeting  

✓ 12/31/2023 Financial Statement Audit presentation 

✓ Quarterly review of Enterprise Risk Management Program  

✓ Review of Cybersecurity Program 

✓ Quarterly Financial Statements 

✓ Travel Reimbursement Policy 

 
3. August meeting  

• Quarterly review of Enterprise Risk Management Program 

• Review of Cybersecurity Program 

• Annual review of financial audit service provider and renewal decision 

• Quarterly Financial Statements 

 
4. November meeting  

• Annual review of Enterprise Risk Management Program 

• Enterprise Risk Management Policy 

• Review of Cybersecurity Program 

• Quarterly Financial Statements 

• Engagement Letter - Auditor 

• 2025 Committee Work Plan 

 

Page 121 of 121


	June 2024 Audit and Risk Committee meeting
	Call roll of Committee members
	Item #1 Summary

	Review order of business and meeting objectives
	Item #2 Summary

	Receive public comments
	Item #3 Summary

	Consider approval of the March 6, 2024 Audit and Risk Committee minutes
	Item #4 Summary
	2024 03 06 Audit and Risk Committee Minutes

	Discuss and consider acceptance of financial statement audit report as of December 31, 2023
	Agenda Item #5 Summary
	05A ACFR Opinion
	05B Governance Letter
	05C Audit Committee Communications Presentation 2023
	05D ACFR 2023 6.3.24_Financial Section

	Discuss and consider Travel Reimbursement Policy
	Agenda Item #6 Summary
	Proposed Travel Reimbursement Policy

	Receive report on COAERS Enterprise Risk Management program including the following:
7A: Risk categories of personnel, physical, and legislative
7B: Cybersecurity risk category and information security program
	7A: Risk categories of personnel, physical, and legislative
	Item #7A Summary
	07A1 Staff Report on Personnel, Physical, and Legislative Risks
	07A2 Staff Presentation Personnel, Physical, and Legislative Risks

	7B: Cybersecurity risk category and information security program
Convene into Executive Session pursuant to Section 551.071, Texas Government Code, Section 1.05, Texas Disciplinary Rules of Professional Conduct, and Section 551.089, Texas Government Code, to consult with legal counsel and deliberate security assessments or deployments relating to information resources technology, network security information described in Section 2059.055, Texas Government Code, and deployment and implementation of security personnel, critical infrastructure, and security devices
	Item #7B Summary
	07B Cybersecurity Risk Report Q2 2024

	Reconvene into open session to take action as determined appropriate regarding security assessments or deployments relating to information resources technology, network security information described in Section 2059.055, Texas Government Code, and deployment and implementation of security personnel, critical infrastructure, and security devices
	Receive report on the first quarter 2024 unaudited financial statements
	Item #8 Summary
	Unaudited Q1 2024 Financial Statements
	Final Q1 2024 Financial Statements 1
	Statement of Net Position(Board

	Final Q1 2024 Financial Statements 2
	Change in Net Position (Board)



	Review key meeting takeaways and call for future agenda items
	Item #9 Summary
	2024 Audit and Risk Committee Work Plan





